
AGENDA

Children's Commissioning Committee

DATE: Wednesday, 11 September 2019

TIME: 9.30 am

VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

1  Welcome and Introductions. 9.30 am

2  Apologies for absence. 

3  Declarations of Interest. 

4  To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting held on 24 July 2019. 

(Pages 1 - 6)

5  Matters arising. 

6  SEND Peer Review. (Cathy Starbuck) (Pages 7 - 30) 9.40 am

7  SEND Strategy 2019/21 (Cathy Starbuck) (Pages 31 - 
46)

10.00 am

8  Best Value Assurance Report (Pages 47 - 
60)

10.20 am

9  Children's Health Services Assurance Report (Harry 
Golby) 

(Pages 61 - 
86)

10.35 am

10  Children's Emotional Health and Wellbeing Report 
(Karen Proctor) 

(Pages 87 - 
110)

10.50 am

11  Finance Report. (Steve Dixon) (Pages 111 - 
120)

11.05 am

12  Locality Plan Refresh. (verbal update) 11.20 am

13  Work Programme 2019 / 2020. (Karen Proctor) (Pages 121 - 
122)

11.25 am

14  Any other business. 

15  Date and time of next meeting - Wednesday 6 
November 2019 at 9.30 a.m. 

Public Document Pack



Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3011
Mike McHugh, Senior Democratic Services Officer E-Mail: mike.mchugh@salford.gov.uk



1 | P a g e

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

24 July 2019

Meeting commenced: 2.00 p.m.
Meeting ended: 3.54 p.m.

PRESENT: Nick Browne (CCG) (NB) - in the Chair

Members:

Councillor John Merry, CBE (JM) Deputy City Mayor (SCC)
Councillor John Walsh (JW) Executive Support for Education and Learning (SCC)
Councillor Jane Hamilton (JH) Executive Support for Social Care and Mental Health (SCC)
Steve Dixon (SD) Chief Finance Officer (CCG)
Karen Proctor (KP) Director of Commissioning (CCG)
Kate Jones (KJ) Neighbourhood Lead (CCG)
Francine Thorpe (FT) Director of Quality and Innovation  (CCG)

Officers:

Chris Hesketh (CH) Head of Financial Management (SSC)
Harry Golby (HG) Assistant Director of Commissioning (CCG)
Deborah Blackburn (DB) Assistant Director, Public Health Nursing & Wellbeing (SCC)
Mike McHugh (MM) Senior Democratic Services Advisor (SCC)

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

1.1. NB welcomed those present to the meeting.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2.1. Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Anthony Hassall, Charlotte 
Ramsden, Joanne Hardman and Tom Regan.

3. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

3.1. No conflicts of interest were declared in respect of the items included on the agenda 
for this meeting.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Children’s Commissioning Committee

24 July 2019

2 | P a g e

4. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

4.1. The minutes of the meeting held on 1 May 2019, were approved as a correct record.

5. MATTERS ARISING

5.1. Business Planning Update

5.1.1. KP confirmed that a further update on Business Planning would be presented at 
the next meeting of this Committee.

RESOLVED: THAT an update on Business Planning be presented at the meeting 
of this Committee to be held on 11 September 2019.

6. COMMISSIONING INTENTIONS

6.1. DB submitted a report which provided an overview of a number of key and emerging 
areas of commissioning and provision relating to Children’s health and care.

6.2. A summary was provided for the commissioning intentions of both Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and Salford City Council (SCC) for the forthcoming 
financial year.

6.3. SD confirmed that the report would be considered by the Service and Finance Group to 
ensure complete details of the contracts, including their value, end date, and contract 
holder were included.

6.4. SD also confirmed that this would provide an opportunity to ‘sense check’ the contracts 
to ensure that there was no duplication.   

6.5. SD provided details of the current individual procurement processes for the Salford 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Salford City Council (SCC). 

6.6. JM sought confirmation in respect of the future arrangements regarding the 
procurement processes.

6.7 SD reported that work was ongoing to develop a single joint procurement policy for the 
contracts within the scope of the agreement.

RESOLVED: THAT an updated version of the Commissioning Intentions report be 
presented at the September 2019 meeting of this Committee.  

Page 2



Children’s Commissioning Committee

24 July 2019

3 | P a g e

7. SALFORD BEST VALUE PROGRAMME: CHILDREN’S SERVICE REDESIGN – 
CASE FOR CHANGE INVESTMENT PROPOSAL

7.1. DB submitted a report which provided details of the ongoing work relating to Children’s 
Service Redesign.

7.2. DB reported that the funding for the proposed service model had been agreed at a 
meeting on 26 June 2019. 

7.3. DB confirmed that, by providing a preventative approach to managing demand, the 
proposed service model would improve outcomes for the residents of Salford.

7.4. DB noted that service model would be a more joined up system wide response to a 
number of elements which would reduce longer term impacts from adversity.

7.5. DB confirmed the four principal programmes within the service model, as follows -

(a) No Wrong Door, 
(b) Achieving Change Together (ACT), 
(c) Transforming Care in Salford / Special Education Needs (TCS), and 
(d) Domestic Abuse and Trauma Informed Response

7.6. CM thanked DB for her straightforward explanation of a complex matter. He also 
confirmed his support for the new model.

7.7. HG reflected on the service model being a fundamental change to current provision and 
sought confirmation that, at the end of the two year funding programme, the new model 
would be sustainable.   

7.8. Discussion also took place in respect of the communication strategy which would be an 
integral part of making the new service model a success.

RESOLVED: THAT the service model for the proposed redesign of Salford 
Children’s Services be approved.

8. MATERNITY SERVICES IN SALFORD - UPDATE

8.1. KP submitted a report which provided an update on Maternity Services in Salford. 

8.2. KP presented four main areas of focus, as follows -

(a) The Scale and Spread plans for the Maternity Pioneer
(b) Ingleside Birth and Community Centre
(c) Links with other maternity developments
(d) Assurance / Monitoring of Maternity Services

Page 3



Children’s Commissioning Committee

24 July 2019

4 | P a g e

8.3. It was confirmed that by the end of May 2019, 119 babies had been born at the 
Ingleside Birth and Community Centre. The feedback received from women and their 
families had been extremely positive.

8.4. Discussion took place relating to the ‘In-reach Model of Service Delivery’ at Ingleside. It 
was confirmed that Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust had been the first in-reaching 
organisation. The first baby to birth at Ingleside Birth Centre using the In-reach model 
was born on 29 January 2019.

8.5. Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh NHS Foundation Trust (WWLFT) and Manchester 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (MFT) were currently working with Bolton 
NHS Foundation Trust (BFT) to develop their plans to start ‘in-reaching’.

8.6. Concern was raised about general staffing levels at the Ingleside Birth and Community 
Centre, and assurance was provided that incidents of women being transferred to other 
sites owing to a lack of midwife support at the site was being addressed.

8.7. Discussion also took place in respect of the ongoing communication and engagement 
as this would be an integral part of developing the successful service.

RESOLVED: (1) THAT the report be noted.

(2) THAT half-yearly update reports on Maternity Services be 
provided at meetings of this Committee.

9. FINANCE REPORT UPDATE

9.1. SD provided a verbal update on the financial position to the end of May 2019.

9.2. SD confirmed details of the projected overspend within Children’s Services provision for 
the 2019 / 2020 financial year.

9.3. SD confirmed that a full report would be submitted at the next meeting of this 
Committee.

RESOLVED: THAT an full update report be presented at the September 2019 
meeting of this Committee.  

Page 4



Children’s Commissioning Committee

24 July 2019

5 | P a g e

10. WORK PROGRAMME 2019 / 2020

10.1. It was confirmed that an updated version of the work programme would be submitted at 
the next meeting of this Committee.

10.2. HG felt the wording in the paper regarding paediatric ophthalmology could be 
misinterpreted.  

10.3. HG reassured the committee that Salford children were accessing the service of the 
Manchester Royal Eye Hospital and the CCG was not aware of any complaints from 
children or their families.

10.4. HG confirmed that the CCG specification had not yet been fully implemented whilst 
some outstanding issues were resolved.

RESOLVED: THAT an updated work programme 2019 / 2019 be presented at the 
September 2019 meeting of this Committee.  

11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

11.1. There were no items of any other business. 

12. DATE AND TIME OF FUTURE MEETINGS

12.1. It was noted that future meetings of the Children’s Commissioning Committee would be 
held as follows -

Wednesday 11 September 2019 (9.30 a.m. to 11.30 a.m.)
Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

Wednesday 6 November 2019 (9.30 a.m. to 11.30 a.m.)
Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

Wednesday 22 January 2020 (9.30 a.m. to 11.30 a.m.)
Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

Wednesday 11 March 2020 (9.30 a.m. to 11.30 a.m.)
Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Salford City Council

SEND Peer Review 

5th July 2019

www.local.gov.uk

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 6



SEND Peer Review

• Presentation of findings

– Strengths

– Areas for further consideration

– Recommendations

P
age 8



The peer team

• Sue Butcher, Social Care Consultant, Lead Peer

• Sue Clarke OBE, Independent Education Consultant

• Siobhan Roberts, Head of School, Cockburn John Charles 

Academy 

• Sarah Baker, LGA Associate, Health Peer

• Venita Kanwar, LGA Associate, Review Manager 

P
age 9



Peer Review

• Not an inspection – invited in as “critical friends”

• Information is confidential and non-attributable

• Visit has been very well organised and everyone has 

been open and honest

• People we met provided a wide range of information 

and issues

P
age 10



The Process

• Self-assessment  

• Document and data review

• Review of EHCPs

• Interviews, focus groups and visits

P
age 11



SEND Peer Challenge Themes
• Leadership & Governance

• Resources & Capacity (including Finance)

• Identification of children and young people 
who have special educational needs and/or 
disabilities

• Assessing and meeting the needs of 
children and young people who have special 
educational needs and/or disabilities

• Improving outcomes for children & young 
people who have special educational needs 
and/or disabilities

P
age 12



Salford’s Key Lines of Enquiry: 

You asked the team to look at:

• How effectively are we working together 

across care, education, health and youth 

justice to improve SEND outcomes?

• How effectively are we improving outcomes 

at SEN Support?

• Attendance and Exclusions across SEND

• 0-25 transformation SEND activity and its 

impact. 

P
age 13



Key Messages
• Strong Strategic Leadership

• Passionate professionals working in an integrated 

way

• Positive view about working in Salford

• Culture of Innovation

• Articulate your strategic vision for SEND

• Raise awareness and improve practice around 

diversity 

• Child’s voice needs to be more apparent in the 

development, delivery and evaluation of services. 

• Using limited resources in the most effective way

P
age 14



One schools 

EHCP is 

another schools 

inclusive 

practice

Lots of projects, 

better at creating 

pilots, not so good 

at stopping

We are open 

to being held 

to account.  

(Schools)

We have a child 

and family 

friendly approach 

for which we are 

unapologetic

What Salford told us…

Happy Nurses 

Day – I got 

50 cards!

Accessing 

resources –

things have got 

much better

P
age 15



Leadership & Governance

Strengths:

• Strong strategic partnership

• Board to floor

• Positive political commitment

• A fully integrated commissioning structure

• DPH appointment across local authority and CCG

• Passionate and committed to multi agency working

• Strong and embedded relationships and 
networks….

P
age 16



Leadership & Governance

Areas for consideration:

• …but focus on accountability

• The vision and long term strategy not fully known or 
understood

• Embed governance

• Move from innovation to whole system approaches

• Greater clarity about expectations of schools and 
their responsibilities 

• Authenticity of child and families voice and their lived 
experience

P
age 17



Capacity and Resources

Strengths:

• Joint budgets and commissioning arrangements in 
place from January 2019 

• Investment through innovation funding allowing for 
creative and responsive services (Start Life Well)…

• The voluntary sector see themselves as a resource

• “Salford employ people with passion and 
committed to do the best they can”

P
age 18



Capacity and Resources

Areas for Consideration:

• Evaluate the impact of joint budgets and 
commissioning “Too early to tell”

• IT systems across services don’t speak

• Be mindful to evaluate the impact of your 
innovation – the “So What?”

• Forensic oversight, impact and pace of the High 
Needs Block budget recovery plan

• Workforce development on all aspects of diversity

P
age 19



Identification of children & young people with 

SEN and/or Disabilities

Strengths:

• CVS are mapping services to support the 0 - 25 
Transformation model

• Adjusting the healthy child programme for early 
identification of SEND

• Focus on family wealth, asset based approach 
linking to the Public Health, 5 E’s model

• GM Early Years Pathway, with a focus on the first 
1001 days.

• PVI work with EY settings with Area SENCOs

• Development of the One Needs Neuro 
Development Pathway

P
age 20



Identification of children & young people with 

SEN and/or Disabilities

Areas for Consideration:

• Secondary phase: Needs have been missed for 
some of the most vulnerable older students

• Identification and practice varies from school to 
school

• Potential for duplication of services for children with 
autism

• Recognition of diversity and related issues around 
the identification of need and within the EHCP 
process

P
age 21



Assessing and Meeting the needs of children 

and young people with SEN and/or Disabilities

Strengths

• Pathfinder Programme is seen as an example of 
good practice

• Family focused, and personalised multi agency 
working, supported by multi agency panels

• Active Parent Voice Organisation

• Proud that children with EHCPs are supported in 
mainstream schools

• Timeliness of EHCP’s is good (case review)

• Wellcomm language tool used for early 
identification

• Strong post 16 offer including local opportunities 
and internships 

P
age 22



Assessing and Meeting  the needs of children 

and young people with SEN and/or Disabilities

Areas for Consideration:

• Clarity of expectations through an updated 
Graduated Approach

• EHCP Reviews highlighted the need for greater 
sensitivity of diversity

• Reassure yourselves of the understanding of 
thresholds

• Review and develop a broader social offer for 
children with more complex need

• Actively build capacity through using system 
leaders to meet more complex needs (Beswick 
report, January 2019)

P
age 23



Improving outcomes for children and young 

people with SEN and/or Disabilities

Strengths:

• Multi- agency commitment – examples of excellent 
practice 

• Great provision in education settings

• Education outcomes for children with SEND

• Learning through forensic analysis of cases

• The work of On Track is significant

• Post 16 attendance, achievement and employment

P
age 24



Improving outcomes for children and young 

people with SEN and/or Disabilities

Areas for consideration

• Place greater emphasis on understanding of 
output, outcomes, impact measures and evaluation

• Pilot to practice – whole system approach

• Pace of change must not be at the expense of 
measuring evaluation and impact

• Reduce exclusions and improve access to an 
appropriate curriculum

• School Self Assessment for quality of SEND 
provision

P
age 25



Recommendations

• Ensure there is a clear articulation of the Vision 

which is translated into practice 

• Ensure there is forensic monitoring of the financial 

impact of the High Needs Block budget recovery 

plan

• Raise the confidence of staff to respond more 

effectively to all aspects of diversity

• Ensure the Voice of Child is authentic in the 

evaluation processes.

P
age 26



Recommendations

• Continue to value the contribution of parents in 

shaping services.  

• Use school based practitioners as systems leaders 

to embed best practice across Salford’s education 

settings.  

• Assure yourselves of a consistent understanding and 

application of thresholds

P
age 27



What next ?

• There is now a chance to reflect on our conclusions

• We will produce a draft report for the authority to 

comment on within 5 weeks

• The final version will be agreed and issued

• The council needs to provide feedback to people 

who contributed to the review

P
age 28



Thank you

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SEND STRATEGY 2019/21

Every child and young person 

aged 0-25 with SEND will 

achieve their full potential

June 2019

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 7



Priority How will we know?  Some examples

They are as healthy

and safe as possible 

• Improved physical and mental health

• More children and young people have health and care needs met in 

a timely way at the right place at the right time

Achieve the best

education outcomes 

they can 

• Children and young people attend the right provision at the right time 

which is of good quality

• All children make good progress

Be as well equipped 

for adult life as they 

can be

• Children have the fullest opportunities to participate, living happy, 

purposeful lives 

• More young people in education , employment and training post 16

Have a sense of 

belonging and value 

• Evidence of effective participation of young people individually and 

strategically 

• More children living, being involved and educated in their community 

Have aspirations and 

opportunities to 

achieve them 

• Young people’s visibility in city events

• Children and Young people have a voice and opportunity to 

influence

• All children, families and professionals have the highest aspirations

O-25 Vision

We want all children and young people with 

SEND in Salford to achieve their potential 

P
age 32



our vision…

Every child and young person aged 

0-25 with SEND will have the fullest 

opportunity to be happy, healthy 

and achieve their full potentialP
age 33



SEND IN SALFORD

7,200 (18%) 
Salford children 
and young people 
receive support 
with their special 
educational needs 
and disabilities

Salford has the 
highest incidence of 
SEND in Greater 
Manchester; 2nd in  
the North West and 
6th highest in England

Salford has the third 

highest level of issuing 

EHC Plans in the North 

West (behind Manchester 

& Lancashire)

There has been a 
significant rise in the 
number of EHC Plans 
issued in Salford

113

176

406

2015

2016

2017

8.7%

22.9%

0.6%

0.3%

17.6%

33.9%

1.0%
0.8%

SpLD

MLD

SLD

PMLD

SEMH

SLCN

HI

VI

Primary – SEND by primary need

18.2%

15.2%

3.9%

14.4%

11.6%

2.9%

14.4%

11.6%

2.8%

SEND Support Total Plans

Salford

North West

England

Total with EHCP (2017)

P
age 34



SEND IN SALFORD

% New EHC Plans  issued within 20 weeks

£31.5

high needs 

funding with 

over 90% 

going towards 

supporting 

provision

Significant 

pressures on 

high needs 

budget   

426
requests for EHC 

assessments were 

made in 2017. Of 

these 92 (21.6%) 

were refused

1.9%
of those agreed 

to assess were 

refused an EHC 

Plan 

£1.6m  
extra supports 

children with 

disabilities through 

short breaks, respite 

and complex care

63.6% of  2018 EHC Plans 
are mainstream 
(40% in England)

36%
of EHC Plans are 
in special schools 
(35% in England)

7.1% of EHC Plans 
are delivered in 
independent special 
schools compared to 
3.9% nationally

16.2%

49.5%

94.6%

65.7%

80.1%

58.6%

64.9%

2016 2017 2018

Salford

North West

England

P
age 35



Key Features 
of Best SEND 
Practice in 
Salford 

Culture, 
Leadership & 
Management

Accurate 
identification 

Use of 
expertise 

Reflective use 
of evidence 

based 
interventions

Monitoring of 
Progress

01

02

03

Personalisation

04
05

06

Communication

and 

Collaboration 

07

P
age 36



Culture, Leadership and Management

• 0-25 – happy, healthy lives and achieving their full potential

• Equity of access

• Clear strategic vision for SEND provision & outcomes across all agencies 

• We know ourselves well, we are aware of our areas for development and strive for 

continuous improvement e.g. use of JSNA

• All children to achieve their full potential , SEN children’s rights – equity of access,  

• Enabling high aspirations 

• Committed supporting need in the widest sense , culture of seeking advice proactively 

• Utilising Family wealth and person centred approaches 

• Outcomes focused 

• Embrace integration and innovation

• Shared leadership of SEND across the whole workforce  Policy and SEN Information 

published

• Culture and ethos that actively welcomes and engages parents and carers of children 

and young people with SEND

• Proactively analysis of data workforce to have appropriate training and are 

experienced and knowledgeable on SEND policy and practice

• Effective and transparent use of funding and resources

01

P
age 37



Accurate Identification 

• Skilled workforce and clear pathways to enable identification of need 

in its broadest sense 

• Committed to accurate assessment of need and continuous review 

• Leaders work to support professional curiosity and accurate, early 

identification (in collaboration) 

• Strategic overview  to inform provision and service planning as 

identified in the JSNA 

• Patterns of need to be  analysed effectively and used to support 

development/ effective support and provision 

• Effective listening with parents to inform early and accurate 

identification

• A range of diagnostic assessments to be  available to support 

accurate screening for SEND

• Identifying unmet need and providing a timely,  

appropriate response

02 

P
age 38



Use of expertise

• Parents key member of Strategic board

• Involvement of parents and children as experts, lived experience and in development of 

pathways 

• Broad approach to social care utilising the whole workforce from children’s services from 

experienced social workers and early help practitioners 

• Effective and innovative use of voluntary sector

• Quality assured Health advice to 100% EHC assessments

• Integrated commissioning and delivery to  meet speech and language and communication 

needs 

• A range of professionals  who are knowledgeable about SEND so that capacity is not just 

concentrated amongst a few

• Our in house offer complimented by Commissioned expertise as needed 

• High quality expertise that used in collaboration, used in a timely way, readily available , 

proactive and responsive to need

• Collaboration of professionals /CPD

• Clear processes of how families, children and young people can access  range of 

support appropriate to their needs , in a timely manner to meet their needs 

• Avoid the crisis and be proactive 

• SEND work across Greater Manchester

03

P
age 39



Personalisation

• Individually tailored packages of high quality support that address the 

whole range of needs, leading to personalised outcomes 

• The workforce have thorough understanding of children and young 

people’s  holistic needs and what is important to them 

• High expectations in terms of children and young people’s progress, 

achievements and outcomes

• Children and young people are supported to develop independence 

and transition smoothly between settings and into adulthood

• Understanding and celebrations of children and young people’s 

strengths, abilities and successes rather than just needs and barriers

• Children and young people’s and families treated as partners, with their 

contributions respected  & valued and the role of wider family in children 

and young people’s success fully appreciated

• Enabling choice and control by use of innovative approaches  

04

P
age 40



Reflective  use of evidence based interventions

• Implementing a needs led approach, utilising the ‘thrive 

approach’ with clear common goals 

• Interventions chosen for a specific purpose – linked to 

assessed needs, outcomes and measures of success

• Interventions recognise the full lived experience at home, 

school and the community.

• Effective co ordination  of interventions – focus, delivery and 

desired outcomes all being clearly understood

• Strong processes for monitoring progress and impact

• Skilled and knowledgeable workforce

05 

P
age 41



Monitoring of progress

• Timely statutory reviews with contributions from all key 

partners that hear the voice of the child and the family 

• Clear systems of accountability for progress of pupils with 

SEND through person centred reviews at transition

• Ability to identify and respond when progress isn’t as 

expected and appropriate escalation

• Use of independent, advice and support with effective 

mediation

06

P
age 42



Communication and Collaboration

• Common language

• All workforce, children and young people  and families 

effectively share information 

• Effective, trusted and supportive relationships

• Making every contact count

• Strong communication with Salford Parent Voice

• Reflective learning from case reviews

• Everyone who is working with child or young person is 

focused on the same goals

07

P
age 43



Our Strategic Priorities 

Our priorities have been developed as a result of 

engagement with parents/ carers, children and 

young people, and with professionals, schools and 

services.

They are also supported by energised leadership 

and partnerships, and informed by good data and 

needs analysis.

P
age 44



The four priority areas for children and 

young people with SEND are…

Clear communication and participation with children, young people 

and their families 
Children’s needs are identified, interventions are put in place which are reviewed 

regularly and place the child and family at the centre by  personalising  planning 

04

03

02

01

Sufficient range of Quality Provision 
Plan sufficient services and provision to enable children, young people and their 

families to feel supported and included within the local community. Effective use 

of resources to maximise outcomes.

Clear pathways and better outcomes
Lead and co-ordinate multi-agency pathways, including planning ahead for smooth 

transitions to achieve positive outcomes for individual children and their families. 

Clear focus on creating  opportunities that are fulfilling and meet personal aspirations.

Early identification, assessment and planning
Children’s needs are identified, interventions are put in place which are reviewed 

regularly and which  place the child and family at the 

centre by  personalising  planning 

P
age 45



Any feedback, comments or queries 

please email 

specialeducationalneeds@salford.gov.uk   

P
age 46



 

                                                          

PLEASE INDICATE TIME REQUIRED TO PRESENT THE PAPER: 10 mins

Children’s Commissioning Committee 
PART I 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

11th September 2019 

Report of: Anthony Hassall/Charlotte Ramsden  

Date of Paper: 4th September 2019

Subject: Best Value Assurance Report

In case of query 
Please contact:

Debbie Blackburn
0161 6076678 

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

 Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

 Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care
Enabling Transformation

Purpose of Paper:                                   
To provide the Children’s Commissioning Committee with an overview of the scope for 
assurance possible around children’s Best Value programmes, and to acknowledge the 
approval via Salford CCG Executive and recommendations at Service and Finance Group 

Recommendations: 
1. Childrens Commissioning Committee are asked to note the contents of this report 

and be assured that the Governance approved via Service and Finance Group and 
CCG Executives will oversee the approval of this process. 

2. An update on progress will be provided to the December meeting.

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



 

                                                          

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

This is to provide assurance on the Childrens 
Best Value programme commissioned for 
Salford residents.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

Issues and risks are identified within the paper

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

Issues and risks are identified within the paper

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM?

Issues and risks are identified within the paper

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

N/A

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

N/A

Footnote:

Members of Children’s Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 48



 

                                                          Page 49



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)


Clinicians are present at CYPCG

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 



Legal Advice Sought


Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)



Children & Young Peoples’ 
Commissioning Group 20.08.19
Service & Finance Group 03.09.19

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 50



1. Management Summary

Salford Council and CCG established the Best Value Programme to identify, develop and 
implement service change to deliver efficiencies across Salford health and care services, 
required to close the financial gap between income and costs, estimated at £25m by 22/23. 

£4m has been set aside from the CCG’s allocation to support invest to save transformational 
change in Salford Children’s services- known as “Best Value Transformation fund” [BVTF].

A “Case for Change Investment Proposal” for £3,3m was approved by the CCG and Council in 
July 19. The £3.3 will provide non-recurrent funding to enable a level of double running and to 
support a detailed evaluation to underpin the full business case – to be developed for 
presentation in the third quarter of 2020.

Year 1 [2019/20] anticipated benefit was for 4 young people currently in out of borough 
placements to be brought back to Salford: 3 from baseline cohort of 46, plus 1 from expected 
growth in placements of 4 annually. Financial benefit was evaluated at £640k, representing the 
average placement saving of £200k, less the cost of a replacement IFA of £40k. 

Actual benefit delivered in the first 6 months has already exceeded expectations, as follows:

 3 young people reunified from residential to parental care [annualised benefit of £560k].
 4 young people moved from external placements to connected foster care [£320k].
 3 young people reunified from IFA care to care of parents [£110k].
 Following a positive assessment a parent and child assessment placement ended, with the 

baby remaining in the care of mum in community [£170k].
 Negotiating lower weekly tariffs with providers [£120k].

The total benefit is in the region of £1.3m. However, a degree of caution is required, as financial 
values are yet to be confirmed by finance and analytics colleagues, who are currently reviewing 
processes and systems. Reviews are identified in the following areas:
 To develop financial and analytics monitoring arrangements that accurately track levels of 

looked after children and movement between placement types, which will enable financial 
assessment of impact of changes to working practices, due to the transformation work.

 Consideration of system growth and reporting so the team are able to identify, measure, 
report and track new out of area placements, with underlying reasons as to the cause.

 To develop a process to identify system capacity constraints e.g. where a child is on a foster 
care plan, but risk having to go into residential placement due to there being no availability. 
This may identify need for additional investment to create more capacity.

 To develop ta control template that aligns investment [the “source” of funding] to the 
payment [the “application”], ensuring over and underspends are promptly identified,

 A process to identify any additional costs incurred as a consequence of the service redesign 
that may be reported elsewhere.

 To develop financial monitoring process that aligned to GM funding template 
 Develop a process to align this work with the wider GM programme.

Page 51



Recruitment has commenced and governance has been established, further details are 
reported in the report.

Implementation plans are in development for all programmes. The No Wrong Door Plan is 
attached as Appendix 3.

2. Context and Background

2.1 Background to the development of the BV Programme
Salford BV is a joint Council/CCG programme established to identify, develop and implement 
service change to deliver efficiencies to close the financial gap between income and costs. 

Across the CCG and Council the size of the financial gap for health and social care has been 
estimated at £25m by the end of 22/23 if no action is taken, of which at least £20m relates to 
children’s services, comprising:
 Baseline pressure of £10m [primarily relating to school grants],
 Growth of £5m [at c£1.5m each of 3 years], and
 Cost improvement programmes of £5m [at c£1.7m in each of 3 years].   

£4m has been set aside from the CCG’s allocation to support invest to save transformational 
change in Salford Children’s services - known as “Best Value Transformation fund” [BVTF].

An initial review in 2018 by the Children’s Leadership Team identified 7 principal work-streams: 
4 transformational programmes linked to placement pressure, and 3 service redesign & 
evaluation programmes where long term investment cases may be needed. The 4 “placement” 
programmes are:

1. No Wrong Door [NWD],
2. Transforming Care in Salford – the Ealing Model [TCS],
3. Special Educational Needs [SEND],
4. Achieving Change Together [ACT].
[5.] Domestic Abuse and Trauma Informed Response to Adversity was added as it is 
considered integral to the placements programme.

The 2 remaining redesign programmes are mental health and speech & language therapy.
A key impact of the proposed invest to save service redesigns will be to reduce costs on young 
people placements through cost avoidance of existing cohort of young people plus containment 
of future growth.

2.2 Investment proposal financial headlines
The “placements” programmes anchor to NWD and TCS models. NWD is a nationally-
recognised model that has already demonstrated significant reductions in placements in those 
areas where it has been implemented [e.g. North Yorkshire]. It is an integrated service for 

Page 52



adolescents with complex needs that brings together a team of specialists working together 
through a shared practice framework.

NWD is currently being developed in 6 GM localities: Salford, Trafford, Stockport, Manchester, 
Rochdale and Wigan and is supported by non-recurrent GM funding. Salford is in receipt of 
£330k to fund Year 1 costs.

In addition to the £330k for NWD, GM has also provided Year 1 support funding for ACT 
[£140k] and TCS [£190k] – a total of £660k.

The total investment approved in June 2019 is £3,284k to support development of the 
following children’s BV programmes:
1. £2,090k to support development of NWD. This is after deducting the £330k GM funding.

2. £100k to support ACT. Year 1 costs of £140k are covered by GM £140k investment. 

3. £258k to support TCS. Year 1 costs of £240k are offset by GM £190k investment, Year 2 
costs are £208k. 

4. £436k to support Domestic Abuse, Trauma & Adversity redesign. 

5. £400k for children’s infrastructure costs for service, commission and corporate support. 

A redesign of the SALT service is in progress and no additional investment from the BVTF is 
anticipated.  

Each programme has its own project plan and timelines and outcome measures. 

2.3 Assurance reporting to Service & Finance Group
At June 19 SFG the following assurance programme was agreed:

 September 19, for a first update reporting numbers of OOBPs and IFAs for the 9 months, 
from January 2019 when the case review commenced.

 December 19, a further update building on the September report and providing more robust 
data to support cost impact and numbers of placements and IFAs.

 March 20, initial tracking of key metrics identified in Section 3.3 below. This will evidence 
whether OOBP and IFA activity predictions are on track. This will be a high-level overview 
only to provide assurance that programmes are on track, or not, so timely corrective action 
can be developed.

 By November 20, full business case, to include detailed evaluation of the metrics in Section 
3.3 below.

2.4 The Four principal phases to the programme
1. Develop the service and financial model for non-recurrent investment to support double 

running, presenting to CCG and Council governance for approval of the financial and 
service models. By July 19.

2. Develop the governance arrangements and the processes for measuring, tracking and 
reporting, together with an assurance process that ensures value for money for the £3.3m 
non-recurrent investment. By December 19.

Page 53



3. Develop the evaluation and tracking process for the new model managed by a third party. 
By March 20.

4. Review of the service model, including lessons learned to enable development of the full 
business case in support recurrent investment, for presentation to CCG and Council 
governance. By November 20.

2.5 The Four Levers to Support Implementation and Delivery
1. Communication and engagement.
2. IT: this will include:

 Reporting & data supporting measurement, evaluation and reporting, and
 Working with other stakeholders – shared systems/ interfaces e.g. SRFT and CAMHs 

providers.
3. Workforce including:

 Development, training and redeployment, and
 Risk of work-force shortages – with a “plan B” in event can’t recruit to required levels.

4. Service and user voice. 

6  3 Learning and system impact to date

3.1 No Wrong Door [NWD] 
A “squad approach” has been employed to ensure the project gets the supported needed. 
Recruitment of key management staff has commenced and work is ongoing to renovate the 
Hub building. 

The project team have initialised intensive deep dives and contract reviews which have yielded 
insight into the system as well as the benefits identified below:

 Deep dives and contract reviews have yielded benefits as reported in Section 1.

 Whilst there has been a reduction in IFA placements this needs to be considered in context 
i.e. that it may not always be the right outcome, as an IFA placement which has ended 
because it became an eternal residential placement creates a cost pressure elsewhere and, 
more importantly, may not be the best outcome for the young person.

 An extra column has been added to the weekly RAG report to the Tracking Panel. There will 
be a RAG-rating of the budget impact of a placement decision e.g. moving a young person 
from an IFA to an in-house foster placement, or an IFA ending because the young person 
moved to commissioned residential. This will also support future SFG.

3.2 Transforming Care Salford - TCS intensive behaviour support
TCS will focus on supporting those families who fall into crisis due to compounding issues such 
as SEND, distressed behaviour and have a diagnosis of learning disability and/or autistic 
spectrum disorder or are at risk of coming into the care system. The objective is to reduce the 
number of young people in residential school placements. Key developments are:

 3 Staff recruited and in place.
 6 month report delivered to Leadership Team on learning so far.

Page 54



 TCS team supported 4 families, which is half of the target 8-10 families in year one.
 None of the children supported have moved to full-time residential home or school 

placement.
 Job description for SEN Coordinator post has been drafted. Recruitment planned for next 

quarter.

3.3 Domestic Abuse & Trauma
Salford City Council is committed to tackling domestic abuse through the use of an asset-based 
model that is embedded in multi-agency practice and has the lived experience of the child at the 
centre of all assessments, plans and interventions. Key development is the recruitment of the 
coordinator has occurred, domestic abuse needs analysis undertaken. Project plan is being 
developed.

3.4 Achieving Change Together [ACT]
ACT is a strengths, relationship and evidence-based model for working with young people at 
risk of exploitation, who are also at risk of entry into care, placement, breakdown or escalation 
of care. Key developments are:

 The 2 staff required are recruited and in post.
 Delivery of interventions has started - 10 cases are open.
 5 LAC, all very complex, and the team are concentrating on trying to reduce some areas of 

concern such as MFH, D&A use MH and well- being and risk of exploitation.
 2 at home who would have ended up LAC without ACT and they are both doing really well 

in all areas.
 2 more at home but with new cases and very much edge of care but we are right at the 

beginning with these two so hopefully we can achieve placement stability at home.
 1 leaving secure placement. 

4 Governance, evaluation and tracking

4.1 Governance
The Best Value Children’s programme will be overseen and governed via established Council 
and CCG clinical and commissioning groups, with quarterly assurance reports presented to 
Service and Finance Group [SFG]. BV is on the agenda for each SFG so provides frequent 
opportunity for feedback.

A BV Advisory Group has been established to support and shape implementation. Stakeholders 
are drawn across CCG, Council, Health & Social Care, and key provider partners. The group is 
time-limited task & finish group. Quarterly monitoring meetings with programme Leads have 
been established. 

Strategic and operational issues will continue to be managed through existing governance and 
will not be within scope of the Advisory Group

Page 55



The Advisory Group first meeting identified that focus must be on quality & outcomes, not on 
activity reductions and financial savings. 

Whilst reduction in activity and costs is clearly needed for the system to be able to fund the 
recurrent cost of change and to future-proof the service, the reduction of costs in isolation may 
not always be a good thing: for example reduction in IFAs might well reduce the IFA budget, but 
if this is a result of insufficient IFA capacity the consequence may be the young person placed 
in residential accommodation.

A Programme Team thas been established as follows:
 Executive Programme Lead – Debbie Blackburn,
 Data Analysis – Chris Pitchford, 
 BI - Chris Tyson,
 Finance Lead – Chris Mee,
 Programme Leads – Sayma Khan, Clare Duff, Geoff Catterall, Domestic Abuse Co-

ordinator,
 SRFT Lead [Health System Intelligence] – Jane Ramm.
 Service / Commissioner lead - Jane Case.
Other stakeholder input will be as required e.g. Police, Schools.

4.2 Evaluation 
The principal output of the programme is the November 20 business case to support the case 
for recurrent funding. Consequently, evaluation must be sufficiently robust to provide assurance 
to CCG and Council Leadership.

Financial / analytical monitoring arrangements are currently being developed to accurately track 
overall levels of looked after children and movement between placement types e.g. outside 
placement, in-house fostering etc. This will allow both financial assessment of the impact of the 
changes to working practices to enable data collection measurement, reporting. The evaluation 
and tracking of key outputs, outcomes and impacts should in turn enable further system 
investments through the transformation agenda. 

Progress is ongoing with securing the independent evaluation partner. The evaluation will 
include:

1. A “desk top” analysis of trends and cost of current system regarding placements. 

2. Review and reflection on learning and wider research across UK regarding invest to save 
approaches in Children’s Services. 

3. Case studies / dip sample of cases to identify trends impact and outcomes

4. Use of relevant research and evidence base, including police and social care data, to inform 
findings and underpin any recommendations.

  A first draft is in progress, this will be completed this will follow procurement regulations and 
will be finalised by the end of September 2019 with a view to initialisation soon after.

4.3. Tracking and monitoring

Page 56



Proposed metrics for evaluation and tracking are detailed in Appendix 1.

Performance and evaluation metrics will be updated as the programmes develop. Metrics are 
identifies as short, medium and long-term. 

5 Recommendation

Childrens Commissioning Committee are asked to note the contents of this report and 
be assured that the Governance approved via Service and Finance Group and CCG 
Executives will oversee the approval of this process. 

An update on progress will be provided to the December meeting.

Page 57



Appendix 1 

Metrics and outcomes 
Out of borough Placements [OOBPs]- baseline
 Tracking of the “46” baseline OOBPs
Out of borough Placements [OOBPs]- growth
 Case review of young people entering the system and whether redesigned system is 

successfully directing away from OOBP

1

Independent Fostering Arrangements [IFAs] 
 Tracking of the “63” baseline IFAs
 Volume change as a result of OOBPs brought back into Salford and growth 

containment 
2 Recruitment – new staff redeployment

 Workforce update under-pinned by cash-flow identifying new vs. redeployment 
3 Helping young people with their emotional and mental health

 % of children and young people whose emotional health and wellbeing supported from 
each of the programmes 

 Number of positive behaviour programmes initiated across the system 
 Family and CYP reported wellbeing measures 

4 Reducing risk, by addressing criminal behaviour and reducing arrests/involvement in the 
criminal justice system
 Police evaluation
 Reducing risk, by working with young people who often go missing from home/care
 Police evaluation
Helping  the cohort with their substance misuse issues
 Tracking activity / outcomes

5 Working successfully with young people dis-engaged from schooling, or young adults who 
are NEET
 Tracking activity / outcomes

6 Impact  young people A&E attendances
 Activity tracking with acute/community provider

7 Impact on  CAMHS activity (if we are encouraging CYP to get support for emotional and 
mental ill health we should see an increase in CAMHS activity )
 Activity tracking with acute/community provider

8 Children safely remaining within the family home due to appropriate safeguards being in 
place [domestic abuse]. 
Children’s increased positive educational engagement, emotional & behavioural wellbeing
 Evidenced reduced domestic abuse across the city. 

Page 58



9 Alignment with the Adult Mental Health “Living Well  Model”
 Pathways between children programme and adults developed to provide a whole 

family support system 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                          

PLEASE INDICATE TIME REQUIRED TO PRESENT THE PAPER: 10 mins

Children’s Commissioning Committee 
PART I 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

11th September 2019 

Report of: Harry Golby 

Date of Paper: 11th September 2019

Subject: Children’s Health Services Assurance 
Report

In case of query 
Please contact:

Eejay Whitehead
0161 212 4596

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

 Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

 Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care
Enabling Transformation

Purpose of Paper:                                   
To provide the Children’s Commissioning Committee with an overview of the scope for 
assurance purposes around children’s mental health services, and to acknowledge the 
approval via Salford CCG Executive and recommendations at Service and Finance Group 

Recommendations: 
1. Note the contents of this report and to provide any feedback on what would be 

helpful in future reports; 
2. Be assured about the plans and progress to date to review all services/contracts, 

update service specifications, and  current governance, performance management 
and quality assurance arrangements;

3. Be assured that the recommendation that all current CAMHS Transformation (non-
recurrent) funded services and projects are funded to end of March 2020 to allow for 
completion of: service reviews, updates to service specifications, 
variations/addendums to the GM CAMHS contract, and businesses cases for 
recurrent funding to be tabled via SFG as outlined in the proposed schedule in 

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



 

                                                          

section 2.5.
4. Note that the required MoU has been signed which is required to support the 

national funding award to 42nd Street bid to scale up / roll out their Salford on line 
offer, as per Salford’s signed letter of support in February in which the Council and 
CCG agreed to provide match funding via the 42nd Street uplift.

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

This is to provide assurance on the children and 
young people’s Mental Health services 
commissioned for Salford residents.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

Issues and risks are identified within the paper

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

Issues and risks are identified within the paper

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM?

Issues and risks are identified within the paper

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

N/A

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

N/A

Page 62



 

                                                          

Footnote:

Members of Children’s Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 63



 

                                                          Page 64



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)


Clinicians are present at CYPCG

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 



Legal Advice Sought


Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)



Children & Young Peoples’ 
Commissioning Group 20.08.19
Service & Finance Group 03.09.19

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 65



Children and Young People’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing (‘Thrive’) 
Report – Quarter 1 (April 2019 - June 2019)

1. Executive Summary
This report follows on from earlier reports to Service and Finance Group (SFG) in 
December 2018, to the Council’s Senior Leadership Team and Lead Member Briefing and 
to SFG and Commissioning Committee in March 2019 in which updates were provided on 
Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan delivery and budget plans for 2019-2020 were 
signed off as part of the national CAMHS Transformation Plan annual refresh and 
publication process.

This is the first CYP ‘Thrive’ Quarterly Report and aims to provide:
 an overview of the combined current investments in CYP mental  / emotional health 

and wellbeing in Salford;
 updates on current commissioning activity and plans, including project and service 

evaluations;
 progress against national and local performance targets; and 
 information around potential risks and issues in relation to service activity and 

monitoring.

The report provides context for planned business cases that will be provided for a number 
of commissioned CYP mental health services and projects. The proposed schedule to bring 
business cases for all non-recurrent funded investments to SFG before March 2020 is 
outlined on page 6-7. This schedule effectively provides an overview of our CYP mental 
health commissioning plans/intentions. 

As this is the first Quarterly report, it does focus significantly on contracts and 
commissioning, quality assurance and governance arrangements for our CAMHS 
Transformation Plan and CYP Thrive work. It is envisaged that future update reports will 
provide exception reports rather than updates on every commissioned service/project and 
will also include highlights of progress against our local CAMHS Transformation Plan and 
All-Age Mental Health Strategy and Delivery Plans.

Content and reporting on performance and activity will be developed further over the 
course of the year aligned with wider children’s and young people’s health and social care 
assurance reporting and with feedback from SFG on what would be useful and helpful.

Future reports will provide more details on commissioning and contract options as these 
are developed, and will make recommendations for future commissioning plans and new 
CAMHS contract arrangements (see Section 6).

Page 66



2. Children and Young People’s EHWB contracts and services (19/20)

A. Budgets and Funding

2.1 The Children and Young People’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing work programme (now known as 
‘Thrive’) is supported by a number of different funding streams, including CCG and Council core 
budget, and CAMHS Transformation funding.  A number of other funding sources also contribute to 
our work programme and service delivery, including innovation funding and GM transformation and 
health and care programme funding. 

2.2 The table below provides an overview of all current Salford Children and Young People’s contracts 
and services commissioned by Salford City Council and CCG, the contract/service values and 
sources of funding. Some are core funded, and some are CAMHS Transformation funded time limited 
projects / pilots (and not yet approved for re-recurrent funding). The proposed schedule for business 
cases to go to SFG is in Table 3.

Table 1. Core and CAMHS Transformation funded contracts / services 

Contract / Service / Project L or A
Pool 

Budget 
(£000s)

Proposed 
Budget 
CAMHS 

19/20 T/F 
(£000s)

Total 
(£000s)

MFT - Core CAMHS (Tier 3)* A 3,225 0 3,225
MFT - Targeted CAMHS - Emerge Salford (16-17 Year 
Olds) L 100 0 100

MFT - Targeted CAMHS - STARLAC L 54 0 54
MFT - Targeted CAMHS LAC (Fostering & i-start) L 190 0 190
MFT - Targeted CAMHS - YOS (Youth Offending Service) L 44 0 44
MFT - Targeted CAMHS - BME Service L 26 0 26
MFT - Targeted CAMHS – LD L 125 76 202
MFT - CAMHS Single Point of Contact - PILOT L 0 48 48
MFT - CAMHS - Schools Link PILOT L 0 171 171
MFT - Community Eating Disorder Service A 0 161 161
GMMH - All-Age MH Liaison A 0 149 149
42nd Street – ICRS A 0 114.40 114
Self Help Services – ICRS A 0 10.00 10
MFT CAMHS – ICRS A 0 7.00 7
Salford MIND – ICRS L 0 26.40 26

42nd Street - Tier 2 Community Based Mental Health 
Provision for Children and Young People L 117 145 262

Page 67



Parent Engagement / Peer Support L 0 23 23
IAPT   21 21
Homestart Baby Bond A 32 0 32
CYP engagement (Odd Arts - Drama workshops) L 0 10 10
Grand Totals  3,913 963 4,876
Notes: L denotes Salford as the ‘Lead’ commissioner, and A denotes Salford as the ‘Associate’ 

2.3  The CAMHS Transformation Fund budget plan in Table 2 below lists the investments in projects 
and services approved by SFG and CCG Commissioning Committee in March 2019 and was 
published on CCG and Council websites as per national requirements on 29 March 2019.

Table 2. Salford CAMHS Transformation Fund Budget Plan 2019-20

Service/Project Proposed spend 
2019-20

CAMHS LD Uplift 76,141
Community Eating Disorder Service 161,000
Integrated Community Response Service 157,798
All age Liaison 149,400
42nd Street Uplift 145,137
IAPT contributions 21,000
Post: Single point of contact 48,239
Engagement: Drama Workshops 9,975
CAMHS School Link Programme Phase 3 170,693
Parent Peer Support 23,352
Total £962,735

2.4 CAMHS Transformation Plan investments are enhancing Salford’s CYP ‘Thrive’ (emotional health 
and wellbeing) offer and supporting delivery of new services required as part of the Five Year 
Forward View, as well as strengthening existing services by increasing capacity and improving 
pathways/access for young people. Gaps and needs were identified through the 0-25 Needs 
Assessment that informed our initial CAMHS Transformation Plan and 0-25 EHWB test case, and 
through the recent development of our local All Age Mental Health Strategy. Some CTP funding 
continues to support innovation by testing new approaches, or, is targeted to address specific 
needs/gaps identified our local offer and pathways.

2.5 A number of CAMHS Transformation funded services and pilots have now been running for some 
time and have been evaluated or are in the process of being evaluated this year, and will be brought 
via SFG between September 2019 – March 2020 as business cases to seek support for re-current 
(sustained) funding. The proposed schedule for this work is outlined in Table 3 below. 

Table 3. Proposed SFG business case schedule (CYP MH commissioning intentions)

Page 68



2.6 Other funding: Salford benefits from various other sources of GM funding that supports 
commissioning of services at a GM level, such as for the GM Crisis Care Pathway which includes a 
GM Assessment Centre, 4 Rapid response teams (the Central team covers Manchester and Salford), 
and Safe Zones. We have also secured financial support through the GM i-Thrive team in 2019-21 to 
support local Thrive implementation through partnerships which this year has supported the funding 
of our June 2019 Thrive Network event focused on Trauma and Adversity. Salford has also been 
awarded £45,597 over 2 years to support implementation of Thrive through local ‘subject matter 

Provider Contract / service Report to SFG

42nd St Tier 2 Mental health (42nd St) – 
Core contract and uplift September 2019

Alliance – lead 
provider 42nd St

ICRS – 42nd St, MIND in Salford and Self-
Help Services

November 2019
Joint business Case with MHCC

MFT – as part 
of alliance

CAMHS Consultation role (for ICRS- see 
above)

November 2019 – part of ICRS 
business case as above

MFT Core CAMHS (Tier 3)
December 2019 
Single report to cover all MFT 
investments as below (except ICR 
consultation role)

MFT Targeted CAMHS - Focus  & i-Start December 2019 – as above

MFT Targeted CAMHS - YJS (Youth Justice 
Service) December 2019 – as above 

MFT Targeted CAMHS - BME Service December 2019- as above 

MFT Targeted CAMHS - LD December 2019 – as above 

MFT CAMHS Single Point of Contact - PILOT December 2019 – as above 

MFT CAMHS - Schools Link PILOT December 2019 – as above

MFT Community Eating Disorder Service December 2019 – as above.
Joint business case with MHCC. 

GMMH All Age mental Health Liaison (RAID) December 2019
Joint Business Case with Bolton 
CCG

Page 69



experts’ which is funding peer leadership across education, early help, and VCSE sectors and 
engagement with parents/carers and children and young people. 42nd St have also been successful 
in a bid for DfE/DoH funding to support the scale up and roll out of their on line offer (a CCG 
Innovation Pilot). Our local funding provided the match for this bid. 

2.7 Salford’s Population Health Plan is funded via Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) to 
deliver transformation programmes under the ‘Age Well’ and ‘Start Well’ agendas. The population 
heath programme supports the ‘Children are Thriving’ theme and contributes to the children’s 
emotional health agenda and CAMHS Transformation plan priorities as outlined below. A review and 
evaluation will be undertaken across the whole programme this year to inform sustainability plans 
and ongoing activity post March 2020.

B. Contracts and Services

2.8 Core CAMHS - CCGs have a statutory duty to offer core CAMHS services to its local population. 
Current contract arrangements are via a pan-GM service specification that is included in the existing 
multi-lateral NHS Standard Contract held between NHS Manchester CCG (as co-ordinating 
commissioner) and Manchester Foundation Trust (as provider). Salford CCG is an associate 
commissioner to this contract. The contract value of the core service is determined on a planned 
activity basis, in line with national PbR tariff prices. Historically, core CAMHS services have been 
paid for directly by Salford CCG.

2.9 Targeted CAMHS - Targeted CAMH services are designed to offer locally tailored, enhanced care 
for specific patient / service user cohorts. These services are not mandatory but do follow national 
guidance and are designed to complement core services and to meet locally identified needs, via 
bespoke services to support particular vulnerable groups. Most targeted CAMHS are delivered by 
MFT as extensions to the core CAMHS service, though there are also other targeted CYP mental 
health services provided by GMMH and 42nd Street as outlined in 2.14 and 2.15 below. Targeted 
services are currently commissioned on a block basis. Historically, they have been funded in one of 3 
ways:

 Jointly – by both the CCG and Local Authority;

 Directly – by the CCG; 

 Directly – by the Local Authority

2.10 Commissioned targeted CAMH services that are recurrently funded in Salford are as follows:

Projects Total investment 2017-2020

Integrated Health & Wellbeing £400,000

Emotionally Friendly Schools £260,000

EHWB Training £175,000

Counselling in Schools £75,000

Learning for Life £100,00

Page 70



 Looked after children – This targeted service provides assessment and formulation based 
on the needs and wishes of looked after children/young people, families and carers. The 
service offers a range of short term and intensive evidence based and research informed 
interventions to children, young people, families and carers according to type and level of 
need. The service was commissioned based on Department for Education and Department 
of Health joint statutory guidance published in 2015 on promoting the health and well-being 
of looked-after children which recognised that almost half of children in care have a 
diagnosable mental health disorder. The risk of child mental health disorders is estimated up 
to six times higher in vulnerable groups of children and young people e.g. Looked After 
Children. There are currently 584 LAC in Salford (@ 14.08.19). All Salford looked after 
children are now routinely assessed at the 6 week point to determine whether support is 
needed and what type/level. The revised service specification for CAMHS LAC now brings 
together all CCG (Starlac) and Council funded CAMHS LAC provision and describes this as 
a single integrated service, which in reality is how the service is delivered. It is a priority that 
funding for the integration of CAMHS LAC services (including funding of previously Council 
funded elements) is incorporated re-currently in the CCG core budget from April 2019. The 
CCG agreed to a business case to fund this work in December 2018.

 Youth Justice Service – aims to improve the emotional wellbeing / regulation and mental 
health of young people involved with the Youth Justice Service, with referrals for YP aged 10 
to 18 years old, though the majority are of the older age range (15-17 yr olds). The Service 
provides a high quality, accessible CAMHS resource integrated with the YJS multi-agency 
health team, which includes screening, assessment, intervention and sign postings. The YJS 
CAMHS Worker supports skills development of YJS workers to appropriately assess and 
screen young people in relation to emotional and mental health, and supports the service 
improve the understanding of children and young people’s emotional,  psychological and 
mental health needs amongst in the context of children / young people who offend or at risk 
of offending. Young people involved with the Youth Justice Service (YJS) are recognised as 
having a high rate of emotional and behavioural difficulties often in the context of family 
relationship difficulties. This need has increased further due to recent changes in the Youth 
Justice System which have resulted in a change in the number and type of referrals coming 
through to the YJS, with higher levels needs, risk and complexity. This is a Council funded 
post.

 16-17 year olds in Salford (Emerge) - is a targeted mental health service for 16-17yr olds 
experiencing moderate to severe mental health problems, which are having an adverse 
impact on their daily functioning. It offers a range of high quality, accessible, young person 
centred, community based, mental health services directly to young people in their own right. 
The service is offered directly to young people and involves them in all aspects of their care, 
supporting any new referrals of 16 and 17 year olds or those aged 16-17 entering CAMHS 
with a new episode of care. Young people already being seen within core CAMHS would not 
be supported via Emerge. This service is tailored to meet the specific needs and challenges 
of older young people that are transitioning through education and into adulthood and aims to 
see young people within 4 weeks of receipt of referral. Although it is not a crisis service, 
young people requiring an urgent assessment are prioritised. This service already delivers on 
the GM specification requirement that by 2021 all GM CAMHS will offer services up to age 
18.

 Children and young people with severe LD and / or ASD - This specialist provision for the 
children and young people with learning disabilities in Salford is an embedded part of the 
CAMHS service. It provides specific mental health support for those with learning difficulties 
in the city. The service offers outreach and has strong ties with the special schools in the city 
as well as offering a service to any child or young person who may be in mainstream school 
or not in state school provision. In addition the LD service currently supports the diagnosis of 
neurodevelopmental conditions such as ADHD and ASD. The number of referrals for 

Page 71



neurodevelopmental conditions is currently one of the main challenges of the service due to 
high demand. In 2018 the LD service received an increased investment (uplift) to fund 2 
further posts to undertake the work of meeting with all families and preparing each case for 
diagnosis. One of those roles is ongoing, the other is time limited for 12 months only to 
reduce the waiting list. The intention moving forward is to see all referrals within the national 
waiting times. In addition commissioners are working with all partners across the city to 
design and deliver an integrated Neurodevelopmental Needs Led Pathway which can provide 
support and advice for all families and a diagnosis for those who need it. This will provide a 
more co-ordinated and efficient service for those families.

 BME populations – This was a specialist provision for black and minority ethnic groups in 
Salford and was established a number of years ago. However, delivery ended in December 
2018 due to the departure of the post holder. It was therefore timely to review the 
specification and purpose and function of the post in terms of current need. The intention is 
to integrate the work into the team and to enable staff across the whole CAMH service to 
offer an outreach and engagement approach, with the aim of improving access to all 
vulnerable groups in Salford, taking account of our known at risk groups that are less likely to 
engage in mental health services, including Salford’s BME communities (especially young 
black men) but also young people from the Orthodox Jewish community, refugees or newly 
arrived young people and LGBTQ+ young people. The service is currently being re-specified 
to take account of this.

2.11 In addition to the above recurrently funded local targeted CAMH services outlined above, Salford 
CCG and MHCC has jointly commissioned an integrated Manchester and Salford Community Eating 
Disorder service as a time limited variation to the core CAMH service and funded via respective 
CAMHS Transformation Plan budgets. This contract was extended up to end of September 2019, but 
it in the process of being extended up to end of March 2020 to allow for a GM led review and local 
business plans. Please see below the project outline and commissioning intensions for this service:

 MSEDS – jointly commissioned with MHCC, Manchester and Salford Community Eating 
Disorder service delivers on the national requirements outlined in the 5 Yr Forward View to 
provide a specialist eating disorder service for children and young people, and is measured 
against national access and waiting time standards which required that treatment should start 
within a maximum of 4 weeks from first contact with a designated healthcare professional for 
routine cases and within 1 week for urgent cases. This is a statutory service and MFT 
consistently meets/exceeds the national standards (see section 3). The service is held up as 
the gold standard in the current GM review of eating disorder services which aims to develop 
GM CEDS service standards, improve performance and consistency across GM via a shared 
outcomes framework standards. The review initially aimed to report by end of March 2019, 
but is now expected to report by end of September, thus MHCC have requested a further 
extension to the current contract to end of March 2020 to allow for the review to complete 
and new specification to be implemented. A joint business case for service continuation will 
be brought to SFG as part of the MFT report in December 2019. The review will provide a 
standard GM service specification and outcomes framework. Numbers supported by the 
service are relatively small overall with 46 in total being supported in 2018-19 because eating 
disorders are not that common. However, the service does also provide advice and guidance 
around ‘eating issues’ that are not defined as a disorder. 

2.12 In addition to MFT core and targeted CAMHS, a number of other CYP targeted mental health 
services have been commissioned locally as part of the Salford Thrive offer. 42nd Street pre dates our 
CAMHS Transformation Plan work but other services that have been developed specifically in 
response to our transformation work programme (see 2.15). 

Page 72



2.13 Tier 2 Mental Health (delivered by 42nd Street) was commissioned by the Council in 2016 to 
provide a lower level (initially described as Tier 2/2.5) mental health service for CYP aged 13 – 25 to 
compliment the CAMHS pathway and to improve access to support for young people with emotional 
health and wellbeing difficulties, that did not meet CAMHS thresholds and to provide earlier support 
to prevent needs from escalating. The service was designed to provide targeted support throughout 
key education and work transition points for young people through secondary school age, FE/training 
and HE and to support those transitioning from education into work and into adulthood by providing 
support up to age 25, so as not to fall into gaps between CYP and adult provision. Full funding for the 
service shifted from the Council to the CCG in 2015. Due to significant pressures on the service 
through increased demand and impacts on waiting times, the service has been supported with an 
increase (uplift) in its budget from April 2018, and the business case for re-current increased funding 
is being taken alongside this report. This uplift has provided match funding for a successful national 
DfE/DoE bid to fund scale up and rollout of the 42nd Street Online Innovation Pilot. Salford CCG have 
agreed to support this via an MoU.

2.14 In addition to the commissioned targeted services outlined above, further services and pilots 
have been developed, tested and funded through CAMHS Transformation Plan in response to both 
national and local priorities, including:

 CAMHS School Link / i-Reach  - Salford was selected and funded by a joint DfE and DoH 
initiative as one of 26 national pilots to test ways to improve links between CAMHS and 
schools. The initial pilot provided £50,000 national funding as match for CCG CAMHS 
Transformation monies to work with 10 Salford schools and involved delivery of training and 
engagement sessions by the Anna Freud centre to improve understanding of the 
issues/barriers between CAMHS and schools, increase awareness of school professionals 
around CYP mental health and of CAMHS services and pathways. The project recruited a 
dedicated CAMHS School Link Worker to offer further training and support and to develop 
and improve relationships between CAMHS and Schools, and to establish safe processes for 
direct referrals to CAMHS by dedicated and trained mental health leads in schools. Via 
CAMHS Transformation funding the service has evolved and grown with rollout to over 30 
schools in years two and three, and has now engaged over 60 schools in total. In 2018, the 
scope and funding was extended to include consultation and liaison and training to schools 
and the wider CYP workforce, and targeted clinical interventions for vulnerable Year 6 pupils 
through two new ‘i-Reach’ posts (qualified CYP EHWB practitioners) in schools settings. This 
service has also been key to improving school ADHD pathways. This service is currently 
being evaluated in order to inform the business case for the future delivery model and 
funding required from April 2020.

 Single Point of Contact Single Point of Contact - The aims of the pilot were to test the 
effectiveness of a single point of contact in Salford to support improved access and pathways 
into CAMHS and/or other EHWB or wider support services (our local Thrive offer). They key 
features of the pilot included:

o Initial risk assessment to ensure children and young people at high risk 
are seen as a priority.

o manage referrals swiftly and determines the best service to meet an 
identified need (step up / step down) in line with the i-Thrive model, 

o Work with other frontline staff to build knowledge and capacity around 
mental health and help improve how cases are dealt with and needs are 
met, skilling up / training others to identify emotional wellbeing issues & 
refer accordingly, and 

o Provision of timely access to advice and consultation on 
pathways/referrals for front line staff and professionals (including GPs, 

Page 73



Schools not part of the CAMHS Schools Pilot, School Nurses, Health 
Visitors, Youth Services, Social Workers and The Bridge) to discuss 
concerns/cases and make informed decisions about whether to refer 
young people on and where to in line with the i-Thrive model.

The pilot was evaluated after 12 months and has shown this be an important 
development to the CAMHS offer in terms of a ‘no door wrong door’ Thrive aligned 
model, and improved access to timely advice and consultation for referring 
professionals. The Thrive Project Delivery Group has agreed to the extension of funding 
to end of March 2020, and recurrent/increased funding will be requested in the planned 
business case to SFG in December, through integration within the core CAMHS 
contract. 

 ICRS – this is our Integrated Community Response pilot which was co-produced and co-
commissioned across Manchester and Salford. 42nd Street are the lead provider but the service 
involves an alliance of providers including CAMHS, Self Help Services and Mind in Salford. The 
pilot went live in October 2017 to test provision of an early assessment and brief interventions in 
targeted settings for children and young people who present with high levels of psycho-social 
distress and risk, caused by the combined impact of their social / family situation on their mental 
health. The aim is to intervene early, offer short term de-escalation support and to reduce need 
for A&E attendances / admissions to in-patient beds with a step up / step down into other 
community services when stable. Through co-location in universal services, ICRS has supported 
more vulnerable CYP in the community, through an integrated ‘risk support’ community offer. The 
pilot settings in Salford were initially Clifton PRU and the Missing from Home Team/Early Help 
Outreach Team. Since 2018 the 2 settings have been Clifton PRU and the Central Early Help 
locality team (in Broughton). 

The Anna Freud Centre for Children and Families (Co- Producers of the Thrive new 
model of care) was commissioned to produce an interim evaluation report has informed 
a review and supported a business case to MHCC to request a further extension of the 
pilot to March 2020, and a final evaluation which was presented to stakeholders in May 
2019. Both evaluation reports have provided strong evidence to support MHCC and 
Salford CCG to recommend that the service is continued based on current annual 
funding levels from April 2020. Salford stakeholders have met to review and re-scope 
the model based on learning of what’s worked to date and to ensure further alignment 
with Council neighbourhood-based Early Help structures. Anna Freud have held the 
model up as good practice, complimentary to the GM Crisis Care Pathway and capable 
of reducing unnecessary A&E presentations / CCP referrals through early intervention in 
communities. The ICRS business case is planned to go to SFG in November 2019. 

All Age Liaison (formerly known as RAID) - is a Children and Young People’s Mental 
Health Liaison Service commissioned as a key element of the GM Crisis Care Pathway 
and aims to improve the quality, effectiveness and efficiency of urgent and emergency 
assessment and onward care planning for those young people aged under 16 who 
present in A&E settings to support individuals to receive the right care in the right place 
at the right time.  This is an extension to the existing Adult service working with young 
people aged 16 years and above and delivers on national requirements set out in the 
Five Year Forward View. The specification was developed to provide MH assessments 
for young people in A&E/PANDA/Urgent Care Centre sites in Bolton, Salford & Trafford 
other localities are currently planning implementation of this service but Bolton and 
Salford were early implementers with Salford’s service going live in May 2018. From 

Page 74



May 2018 to end of March 2019, the service has supported 223 under 16s attending 
PANDA. The 9 month review showed that 160 (85%) of the 188 under 16s assessed 
between May 2018 – Jan 2019 were Salford residents. Up to end of March 2019, 45% of 
referrals were known to CAMHS. 

This service is funded via CAMHS TP funding and was jointly commissioned with and 
led by Bolton CCG. The contract runs from April 2018 – March 2020, and is currently 
undergoing a joint service review, with a meeting planned with GMMH Service 
Managers in September 2019.  A joint business case will be developed and taken 
through respective CCG governance structures (including SFG) for recurrent funding in 
November/December. The service review will inform further rollout of All Age Liaison as 
part of the GM Crisis Care Pathway, and Salford’s Adult Commissioning team who lead 
on the service commissioning for people aged 16+. 

 Odd Art Drama Workshops - Odd Arts, an educational theatre group, have been commissioned 
annually for the past 3 years by Salford CCG to deliver a drama performance and workshop to 
Year 9 pupils in all the Salford high schools. Key themes addressed through the drama 
workshops are self-harm, anxiety / self-confidence, body image and eating disorders, through the 
play is adapted each year to ensure it is current regarding issues and advice offered. Schools 
consistently feed-back that the production a really positive learning experience for participants 
and it offers an opportunity to explore and talk about mental health issues in a way that is open 
and non-judgemental and involves young people in determine the options and outcomes for 
characters. Pupils report feeling more able to ask for help and find the right help for their friends 
after seeing the production. These drama workshops remain a non - recurrent annual investment, 
subject to sufficient available resource in the CAMHS Transformation budget.  The Thrive Project 
Oversight Group have supported the annual rec-commissioning based on evaluation reports and 
impact for young and full costs are included in the 2019-20 budget for a further round of 
workshops to be delivered in Spring 2020, however, consideration will be given to exploring co-
investment and long terms sustainability by schools in the drama’s from 2021.

 Home-Start Baby Bond – Home-start Trafford and Salford was jointly commissioned with 
Trafford Council for 2 years up to March 2020 to deliver a peri-natal mental health offer in both 
localities in response to the evidence that expectant and new mothers are at significantly 
increased risk of experiencing mental health difficulties during this period and this can negatively 
impact on outcomes for new born babies / young children. Home-start supports families who are 
struggling with a range of issues such as post-natal depression, isolation, health problems, 
bereavement and any other issue that requires support. The organisation support over 200 
families per year who are struggling to cope; over 80% of these families have an infant under the 
age of 2. The Baby Bond project is managed by qualified specialist PIMH co-ordinators and is 
delivered through a bank of over 50 trained volunteers from many backgrounds who are 
individually matched to parents/families to provide targeted support. Parents are supported to 
have a greater understanding of their child’s needs and how to meet them, which will improve 
family wellbeing and resilience. The core objectives of the project are:

o Earlier Help -  an enhanced level of support to existing families through the core 
Home-Start programme

o Support for parents and expectant parents who require mental health support to 
form more secure and positive attachments with their 0-2 year old infant, to have 
a greater understanding of their child’s needs and how to meet them

o Improved parental wellbeing through reduced isolation and improved self-esteem 
o Improve parenting skills by modelling good parenting
o Improve child health and wellbeing

Page 75



o Up-skilled volunteers who have received specialist  training  in Parent and Infant 
Mental Health, child development and attachment

o Increase volunteer confidence, opportunities and employment prospects through 
gaining skills and experience

The project is in its second year and is currently under review in partnership with 
Trafford commissioners to inform future commissioning plans. Future funding has not 
been included in the Salford CAMHS Transformation Budget from 2020 as it was 
envisaged that, if sustained, the service would be funded as part of Salford’s Peri-natal 
Infant Mental Health programme. Salford’s PIMH commissioning leads have been 
engaged to support the service review and ensure smooth transition.

 Parent Peer Support Project 2019-20 - This project is delivered by the Health Improvement 
Team in Salford City Council and provides a 3 days a week co-ordination role to support parents 
across the city to set up peer support (self-help) groups based on issues that parents have 
specifically identified as areas in which they need ongoing support, particularly past diagnosis of 
mental health and special educational needs and disabilities and associated issues within the 
family. These were issues identified through engagement with parents and parent support 
workers both of whom have been pro-actively involved in shaping the project, including one 
parent with experience of setting up her own group. The project is supporting parents to access 
dedicated training on key topics they the need to know more about and opportunities to invite 
guest speakers and relevant professionals to come and talk to parents and answer their 
questions and concerns. The goal is to empower the parents and for them to become more 
resilient, and more confident in understanding the issues and supporting their children and 
families. The project is non-recurrently funded through CAMHS TF for 12 months, with potential 
to fund for a further 12 months, subject to performance/impact and availability of funding.

2.15 Other services and pathways are commissioned in GM that may, in the future, have implications 
for / influence our local commissioning plans, but through GM governance arrangements such as GM 
CYP Mental Health Board, GM Future in Mind (CAMHS) Commissioner’s Group and GM Crisis Care 
Steering Group these will in time be better understood. The examples below are not exhaustive but 
include:

 GM Crisis Care Pathway - the full funding is currently provided via GM Health and Social Care 
budgets but we may incur costs later 

 Crisis care links to local provision (implications for Salford’s wider system) to include IYSS, 
Adult/Parental MH services, financial and debt advice services, substance misuse, community 
paediatrics, social care potential future increase on existing services, A&E Panda Unit

 Links to the adult Living Well service/system
 GM mental health in education programme – links to Salford schools EFS/CAMHS Link offer 

3. Performance Against National Expectations

3.1 Commissioners are responsible for reporting performance against 3 national Children’s 
mental health KPIs / measures,  relating to: improved access to NHS funded community 
MH services for children and young people and timely access to children and young 
people eating disorders. 

3.2 At Quarter 1 2019/20 commissioner performance against all national targets is as 
follows (performance information for Quarters 3 and 4 of the 18/19 financial year is 
included for retrospective comparison):

Page 76



Indicator Description Target Data Source Q1 
1920

Q2
1920

Q3
1819

Q4
1819 Traj.

At least 34% of CYP with 
diagnosable MH condition 
treated in NHS funded 
community MH service 
*performance is 
cumulative across the 
year, working towards a 
year-end total

Quarterly 
-  8.5%
Annual 

(2019-20) 
– 34%

Nationally 
Published – 
Cumulative 
(Quarterly 
Snapshot 

Performance 
in Brackets)

Not 
yet 

publis
hed*

36.8%
(9.6%)

45%
(8.2%)

% of CYP with eating 
disorders seen within 1 
week (urgent)

75% Nationally 
Published

100% 
(1/1) 

100% 
(3/3)

100% 
(2/2)

% of CYP with eating 
disorders seen within 4 
weeks (routine)

80% Nationally 
Published

80% 
(4/5) 

100% 
(14/14

)

90.9% 
(10/11)

*Please note that the provisional 2019/20 Q1 cumulative position is 21.5% based on published 
data. Data for 18/19 Q1 was at 17.1%. Salford is therefore already on track to exceed the 
expected target for Q1. See table below.

2019-20 Mental Health | Improve inequitable rates of access to 
Children & Young People’s Mental Health Services
Source: MHSDS NHS 
Digital

REPORTING_PERIOD STATUS Number Denominator % cumulative
Apr-19 Final 450 5445 8.3%
May-19 Final 380 15.2%
Jun-19 Provisional* 340 21.5%

3.3 Salford consistently exceeds national access targets for children and young people 
(CYP) receiving treatment and access and waiting times to CYP Eating Disorder 
services.

3.4 These targets are monitored both locally and at GM level as is shown in the table below, 
which highlights Salford within the top 3 performing CCGs. The picture is the same for 
our Community Eating Disorder Service performance and the joint Manchester / Salford 
service is held up as the model of good practice for GM and is helping to shape 
standards and a model specification for GM as part of a peer review which is due to 
report by end of September.

Page 77



4. Quality assurance and governance – CYP EHWB/Thrive work programme

4.1 Salford CCG and Council have joined up the programme for Children and Young 
People’s emotional health and wellbeing / ‘Thrive’ programme, including Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS). The Thrive Partnership acts as the 
‘expert reference group’ and The CAMHS Transformation Plan provides the overarching 
structure/plan, and progress against our ‘Ambitions’ and actions are managed through 
an integrated Thrive Delivery Plan. The CCG and Council has established joint 
governance arrangements to oversee and support this joint work programme via a joint 
Thrive Project Oversight Group, co-chaired by the CCG clinical Lead for Children and 
Young People and the Council’s Assistant Director of Nursing and Wellbeing / Chair of 
Salford’s Children and Young People’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHWB) 
Partnership.  Salford’s Thrive Delivery Plan is embedded below for information and 
provides the context for our commissioning plans and investments.

Final Draft Thrive 
Combined Project Plan 2019-20 03.06.19.xlsx

4.2 The Thrive Project Group meets quarterly and oversees the CAMHS Transformation 
Plan and delivery plan, CAMHS Transformation Funding and associated commissioning 
activity. Reporting arrangements to date have been via the CCG Children and Young 
People’s Commissioning Group (CYPCG) and Commissioning Committee, as well as 
the 0-25 Programme Oversight Group (POG) and joint 0-25 Board. The Health and 
Wellbeing Board also provides the final approval of the CAMHS Transformation Plan 
prior to publication.

Page 78



4.3 Contracts are managed locally for CAMHS and 42nd street contracts via quarterly joint 
CCG/Council monitoring meetings and comprehensive quarterly reports are provided for 
both services.  The CAMHS quarterly monitoring meeting and report covers all CAMHS 
services (core and targeted) and there is an additional CAMHS LAC meeting to review 
progress of services that support looked after children and fostering. A twice yearly 
meeting is also held with the Youth Justice Service Manager and CAMHS YJS lead to 
review progress and performance.

4.4 Salford is well represented across the range of GM mental health related meetings that 
support GM health and social care programme oversight and governance arrangements. 
Charlotte Ramsden co-chairs the GM CYP MH Board and Debbie Blackburn chairs the 
GM Mental Health in Education Advisory Group. There is a GM Crisis Care Steering 
Group on which we sit, and performance and activity relating to all aspects of the 
pathway are reported and considered. We also attend monthly GM Future in Mind 
(CAMHS Commisisoner’s) Group and the Data Club (sub group), and are a member of 
task and finish groups such as the GM Eating Disorder service peer review.  

4.5 Local All Age Liaison data for CYP aged 0-16 and 16-18 is provided monthly by GMMH 
to Bolton and Salford commissioners and this data is reported/discussed in GM 
meetings to inform the rollout of All Age Liaison Mental health provision across other 
localities. A joint evaluation of All Age Liaison is underway and will to inform future 
commissioning plans in Salford and Bolton, and in GM thorugh the GM Crisis Care 
Pathway.

4.6 Quarterly joint monitoring arrangements are also in place with Trafford MBC for the 
Home-Start Baby Bond project and with Manchester (MHCC) for the ICRS pilot and our 
joint Community Eating Disorder Service (MSEDS). Salford is also invited to attend 
MHCC contract meetings with MFT and 42nd St.

5. Commissioned services – performance and activity

5.1 This section will be developed further during 2019-20 alongside other quarterly 
assurance reports for Children and Young People’s health and social care, and with 
feedback from SFG on what would be helpful. The plan over the next 12 months is to 
develop a CYP MH service activity and performance summary dashboard, based on 
headline performance information and exceptions (risk/issues) aligned to:

 The GM Service Specification Outcomes reporting requirements and Salford’s Integrated 
CAMHS monitoring reports, including workforce expansion

 Quarterly reports for 42nd Street core service and new on line services

 ICRS performance reports 

 All Age Liaison performance reports

 GM Crisis Care performance reports covering: RRTs, assessment centre/inpatient data 
and Safe Zones as these are developed.

Page 79



5.2 The planned CYP MH dashboard will be specific to commissioned services and will not 
seek to duplicate existing performance information and data currently included in the 
wider EHWB Dashboard which is collated and reported to the Thrive Partnership 
(embedded below for reference).

EHWB Data 
Dashboard - Q1-4 (2018-19).pdf

5.3 Current service activity and performance issues – on the whole services are 
delivering well, exceeding national targets and meeting GM/local requirements. Salford 
CAMHS, delivered by MFT has twice been CQC inspected and rated ‘outstanding’. 
Outcomes / recovery rating for CYP mental health services are still in development and 
currently only monitored by GM for CAMHS services but show recovery MFT as above 
national, regional and sub regional (see below). 42nd st also monitor outcomes and 
recover data and performance is consistently above national 

i) Outcomes and recovery Ratings data – CAMHS 
GM outcome monitoring reports shows closed referrals received after 1st Jan 2016, the 
% of those with at least 2 contacts and the % that have reliably improved. In October 
2018, this showed:

% with at least 2 
contacts

% that reliably 
improved

England 35.5 29.1
GM 36.9 *
MFT 45.3 35.6
North West Boroughs 38.4 26.3
Pennine Care 33.6 *

ii) Outcomes and recovery Ratings data – 42nd St
The national YP- CORE target for clinically significant improvement or recovery is 50%. 
42nd Street recovery rates are consistently higher than nationally and ranged from 69% - 
100% of young people with comparable data per quarter in 2018/19. During the year, 
42nd St also implemented additional recovery measures (ORS/CORS - (Child) 
Outcomes Rating Scale) and this is being monitored against national benchmarks. Early 
indications show that recovery rates are consistently high. 

5.4 Demand for services (referrals) has increased significantly across all services in 
recent years, in line with national targets and requirements to increase access into CYP 
mental health services increased. See tables below.

5.5 Demand (referral rates) to 42nd Street’s core service in Salford have been rising year 
on year, as can be seen from the graph below.42nd Street has struggled more with 
managing the increased demand due to the very small team covering Salford and lack 
of capacity in the service to cope with this pressure. Increased funding in the core 
service 2018-19 has increased capacity (from 2.0 to 4.4 WTE) which has helped to 
manage the increased volume of referrals and to stabilise waits from increasing further, 

Page 80



but there is more work to be done to bring these down to acceptable levels and work 
within NHS standards as there is for CAMHS. There are currently no expected service 
standards for waiting times and this will be a key area for improvement linked to the 
accompanying business case which recommends that increased core funding is 
required recurrently.  There is more detail on 42nd service activity and challenges in the 
business case, thus it is not repeated here.

CAMHS referrals 2017/18 and 2018/19

42nd St New referrals 2014-2019

Page 81



5.6 Waiting Times – The increased demand across services has impacted on the capacity 
of services to be able to manage the increased demand, and this has had a detrimental 
impact on waiting times for both CAMHS and 42nd Street over recent years. Increased 
investment into both services, combined with service redesign and transformation work 
has helped to mitigate this and CAMHS in particular have managed to significantly 
reduce waiting times for first and second contacts, with more work to do on reducing the 
waits to third appointments which remain skewed by neurodevelopment referrals. 
CAMHS waits are now monitored consistently by GM and recent policy changes in how 
waits and DNAs are defined and measured across GM mean that MFT now compares 
well with other services, as can be seen in the tables below 

April 2019 – CAMHS Waits to first Appointment (6 weeks or less) 

April 2019 – CAMHS Waits to second Appointment (12  weeks or less) 

42nd St Waiting Times 2017 -2019

Page 82



5.6 DNA rates (often now referred to as Child Not Brought) have reduced across both 
services through various improvements to pathways, including increased use of phone 
and text reminders, the role of the Single Point of Contact in CAMHS and CAMHS 
School Link project in supporting the right referral pathways which has helped to reduce 
the proportion of inappropriate referrals from professionals, and the introduction of 
telephone assessments in 42nd St. See 42nd St DNA reduction below.

42nd Street - DNAs (2016 -2019)

6. Commissioned services – contract developments 

6.1 CAMHS Contract Developments – This section is designed to provide an update and 
recommendations regarding any CAMHS contract proposals or developments in the short, 
medium and longer terms.

 Short term (September ’19 – March ’20) – As mentioned earlier, there are no ‘wrap-
around’ contracting arrangements in place for any of the locally commissioned, 
recurrently funded targeted CAMHS services. To avoid this risk, it is proposed that each 

Page 83



of these will be varied into the existing MFT contract led by Manchester CCG following 
review and revision, where necessary.

 
Currently, most targeted CAMHS specifications are outdated and are under review/ 
subject to planned reviews. The table immediately below sets out the expected timeline 
for completion and sign-off of each of these specification reviews.

Targeted Service: Latest Position: Expected Sign-Off
Emerge Salford (16-17 Year 
Olds)

Draft specification addendum Awaiting SLT sign off 
(22.08.19)

Looked After Children Draft specification addendum As above

Youth Justice Service Draft specification addendum As above

BME Service Under review/re-specification Dec 2019

Learning Disabilities Service Specification in Draft Dec 2019

Single Point of Contact Evaluation complete. Specification 
addendum required.

Dec 2019

CAMHS/School Link Evaluation due September 2019. 
Specification addendum required.

December 2019

MSEDS Subject to GM Peer review and new 
GM specification by end of Sept 2019. 

December 2019

All Age liaison Under evaluation – joint with Bolton 
CCG.

November/December 
2019

ICRS Specification redraft in progress – joint 
with MHCC.

End Oct 2019

 Medium term (April ’20 – April ’21) – During the 2020/21 financial year, a full review of the 
overall CAMHS contracting arrangements is proposed. This will take into account a range of 
factors (e.g. contract currency, commissioning / incentivising for delivery of outcomes, staffing, 
association etc.) That, alongside routine contract monitoring processes, will be tested to ensure 
Salford is achieving best value from the existing arrangements and to see if there are any 
opportunities for efficiency.

Updates on the review will be presented to Service and Finance Group during this

Updates on the review will be presented to Service and Finance Group during this 
period. It is expected that a full report will be presented, with recommendations, to 
Service and Finance Group to support a new contractual arrangement by March 2021. 

Page 84



 Longer term (April ’21 onwards) - This will be dependent on the review referred to above and 
will take account of any planned changes to GM commissioning and related service 
specifications.

7. Recommendations

Childrens Commissioning Committee is asked to:

1) Note the contents of this report and to provide any feedback on what would be helpful in future 
reports; 

2) Be assured about the plans and progress to date to review all services/contracts, update service 
specifications, and  current governance, performance management and quality assurance 
arrangements;

3) Be assured that the recommendation that all current CAMHS Transformation (non-recurrent) 
funded services and projects are funded to end of March 2020 to allow for completion of: service 
reviews, updates to service specifications, variations/addendums to the GM CAMHS contract, 
and businesses cases for recurrent funding to be tabled via SFG as outlined in the proposed 
schedule in section 2.5.

4) Note that the required MoU has been signed which is required to support the national funding 
award to 42nd Street bid to scale up / roll out their Salford on line offer, as per Salford’s signed 
letter of support in February in which the Council and CCG agreed to provide match funding via 
the 42nd Street uplift.

Chris Ogden
Senior Contracts Manager

Emily Edwards
Senior Integrated Commissioning Manager

Page 85



Appendix 2: 0-25 Outcome Framework

Page 86



 

                                                          

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE
AGENDA ITEM 

Item for Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

11 SEPTEMBER 2019

Report of: Debbie Blackburn Assistant Director of 
Public Health Nursing and Wellbeing 

Date of Paper: 3 September  2019

Subject: Children’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing 
Report

In case of query 
Please contact:

Chris Ogden: 0161 212 4947; or 
christopher.ogden@nhs.net 

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

 Quality of Care
 Population Health and Prevention

Integrated Community Based Care and Long Term Conditions 
Transforming Hospital Care

 Mental Health and Learning Disabilities 
 Enabling Transformation 

Purpose of Paper:

This report provides a quarterly update and assurance on children’s emotional health and 
wellbeing (EHWB) and includes progress against the CAMHS Transformation Plan, 
contractual performance, service and contract developments in relation to services 
commissioned by Salford CCG and Salford City Council (captured as part of the new 
pooled budget arrangements).

A range of data sources, including national and local performance & quality indicators 
together with ‘softer’ intelligence provided by CCG commissioners is used to:

 Summarise performance in relation to national targets and expectations;

 Detail specific exceptions relating to contract performance compliance, including 
recommendations and/or agreed mitigating actions, as necessary;

 Provide context in relation to the impact of performance compliance on specific 
children’s emotional health and wellbeing work streams / projects, including any 
impact on other programme areas.

Please note that this report is a follow on from earlier reports to Service and Finance 
Group (SFG) in December 2018, and to SFG and Commissioning Committee in March 
2019 in which updates were provided on Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan delivery 
and budget plans for 2019-2020 were signed off as part of the national CAMHS 
Transformation Plan annual refresh and publication process. 

Page 87

Agenda Item 10

mailto:christopher.ogden@nhs.net


 

                                                          

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

By presenting any areas of pressure / 
underperformance, appropriate actions can be 
identified and implemented to support 
improvements.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

N/A

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

N/A

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH OR EXTREME 
RISKS FACING THE 
ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT ARE 
THEY AND HOW DOES THIS PAPER 
REDUCE THEM?

N/A

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

N/A

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

Footnote:

Members of NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning Group – Service and Finance Group will read all papers 
thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 88



  

3

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  ie survey, event, consultation)



Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  ie survey, event, consultation)

 Via the Emotional Health and 
Wellbeing Partnership and 
CYPCG Meetings and discussion 
with clinicians in CAMHS and 42nd 
St.

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how these 
will be managed) 



Legal Advice Sought 

Presented to the Commissioning Committee 

Presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board 

Presented to the Integrated Adult Health and 
Care Commissioning Joint Committee 

Presented to any other groups or committees, 
including Partnership Groups
(Please specify in comments)
SCC Children’s Senior Leadership team and Lead 
member Briefing, and POG (Programme Oversight 
Group)



SLT and LMB 22.08.19
POG 23.08.19

P
age 89



  

4

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 90



5

Children and Young People’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing (‘Thrive’) 
Report – Quarter 1 (April 2019 - June 2019)

1. Executive Summary
This report follows on from earlier reports to Service and Finance Group (SFG) in 
December 2018, to the Council’s Senior Leadership Team and Lead Member Briefing and 
to SFG and Commissioning Committee in March 2019 in which updates were provided on 
Salford’s CAMHS Transformation Plan delivery and budget plans for 2019-2020 were 
signed off as part of the national CAMHS Transformation Plan annual refresh and 
publication process.

This is the first CYP ‘Thrive’ Quarterly Report and aims to provide:
 an overview of the combined current investments in CYP mental  / emotional health 

and wellbeing in Salford;
 updates on current commissioning activity and plans, including project and service 

evaluations;
 progress against national and local performance targets; and 
 information around potential risks and issues in relation to service activity and 

monitoring.

The report is provides context for planned business cases that will be provided for a 
number of commissioned CYP mental health services and projects. The proposed 
schedule to bring business cases for all non-recurrent funded investments to SFG before 
March 2020 is outlined on page 6-7. This schedule effectively provides an overview of our 
CYP mental health commissioning plans/intentions. 

As this is the first Quarterly report, it does focus significantly on contracts and 
commissioning, quality assurance and governance arrangements for our CAMHS 
Transformation Plan and CYP Thrive work. It is envisaged that future update reports will 
provide exception reports rather than updates on every commissioned service/project and 
will also include highlights of progress against our local CAMHS Transformation Plan and 
All-Age Mental Health Strategy and Delivery Plans.

Content and reporting on performance and activity will be developed further over the 
course of the year aligned with wider children’s and young people’s health and social care 
assurance reporting and with feedback on from SFG on what would be useful and helpful.

Future reports will provide more details on commissioning and contract options as these 
are developed, and will make recommendations for future commissioning plans and new 
CAMHS contract arrangements (see Section 6).

Page 91



6

2. Children and Young People’s EHWB contracts and services (19/20)

A. Budgets and Funding

2.1 The Children and Young People’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing work programme (now known 
as ‘Thrive’) is supported by a number of different funding streams, including CCG and Council 
core budget, and CAMHS Transformation funding.  A number of other funding sources also 
contribute to our work programme and service delivery, including innovation funding and GM 
transformation and health and care programme funding. 

2.2 The table below provides an overview of all current Salford Children and Young People’s 
contracts and services commissioned by Salford City Council and CCG, the contract/service 
values and sources of funding. Some are core funded, and some are CAMHS Transformation 
funded time limited projects / pilots (and not yet approved for re-recurrent funding). The proposed 
schedule for business cases to go to SFG is in Table 3.

Table 1. Core and CAMHS Transformation funded contracts / services 

Contract / Service / Project L or A
Pool 

Budget 
(£000s)

Proposed 
Budget 
CAMHS 

19/20 T/F 
(£000s)

Total 
(£000s)

MFT - Core CAMHS (Tier 3)* A 3,225 0 3,225
MFT - Targeted CAMHS - Emerge Salford (16-17 Year 
Olds) L 100 0 100

MFT - Targeted CAMHS - STARLAC L 54 0 54
MFT - Targeted CAMHS LAC (Fostering & i-start) L 190 0 190
MFT - Targeted CAMHS - YOS (Youth Offending Service) L 44 0 44
MFT - Targeted CAMHS - BME Service L 26 0 26
MFT - Targeted CAMHS - LD L 125 76 202
MFT - CAMHS Single Point of Contact - PILOT L 0 48 48
MFT - CAMHS - Schools Link PILOT L 0 171 171
MFT - Community Eating Disorder Service A 0 161 161
GMMH - All-Age MH Liaison A 0 149 149
42nd Street - ICRS A 0 114.40 114
Self Help Services - ICRS A 0 10.00 10
MFT CAMHS - ICRS A 0 7.00 7
Salford MIND - ICRS L 0 26.40 26

42nd Street - Tier 2 Community Based Mental Health 
Provision for Children and Young People L 117 145 262

Parent Engagement / Peer Support L 0 23 23
IAPT   21 21
Homestart Baby Bond A 32 0 32
CYP engagement (Odd Arts - Drama workshops) L 0 10 10
Grand Totals  3,913 963 4,876
Notes: L denotes Salford as the ‘Lead’ commissioner, and A denotes Salford as the ‘Associate’ 

Page 92



7

2.3  The CAMHS Transformation Fund budget plan in Table 2 below lists the investments in 
projects and services approved by SFG and CCG Commissioning Committee in March 2019 and 
was published on CCG and Council websites as per national requirements on 29 March 2019.

Table 2. Salford CAMHS Transformation Fund Budget Plan 2019-20

Service/Project Proposed spend 
2019-20

CAMHS LD Uplift 76,141
Community Eating Disorder Service 161,000
Integrated Community Response Service 157,798
All age Liaison 149,400
42nd Street Uplift 145,137
IAPT contributions 21,000
Post: Single point of contact 48,239
Engagement: Drama Workshops 9,975
CAMHS School Link Programme Phase 3 170,693
Parent Peer Support 23,352
Total £962,735

2.4 CAMHS Transformation Plan investments are enhancing Salford’s CYP ‘Thrive’ (emotional health 
and wellbeing) offer and supporting delivery of new services required as part of the Five Year 
Forward View, as well as strengthening existing services by increasing capacity and improving 
pathways/access for young people. Gaps and needs were identified through the 0-25 Needs 
Assessment that informed our initial CAMHS Transformation Plan and 0-25 EHWB test case, and 
through the recent development of our local All Age Mental Health Strategy. Some CTP funding 
continues to support innovation by testing new approaches, or, is targeted to address specific 
needs/gaps identified our local offer and pathways.

2.5 A number of CAMHS Transformation funded services and pilots have now been running for some 
time and have been evaluated or are in the process of being evaluated this year, and will be 
brought via SFG between September 2019 – March 2020 as business cases to seek support for 
re-current (sustained) funding. The proposed schedule for this work is outlined in Table 3 below. 

Table 3. Proposed SFG business case schedule (CYP MH commissioning intentions)

Provider Contract / service Report to SFG

42nd St Tier 2 Mental health (42nd St) – 
Core contract and uplift September 2019

Page 93



8

2.6 Other funding: Salford benefits from various other sources of GM funding that supports 
commissioning of services at a GM level, such as for the GM Crisis Care Pathway which includes 
a GM Assessment Centre, 4 Rapid response teams (the Central team covers Manchester and 
Salford), and Safe Zones. We have also secured financial support through the GM i-Thrive team 
in 2019-21 to support local Thrive implementation through partnerships which this year has 
supported the funding of our June 2019 Thrive Network event focused on Trauma and Adversity. 
Salford has also been awarded £45,597 over 2 years to support implementation of Thrive through 
local ‘subject matter experts’ which is funding peer leadership across education, early help, and 
VCSE sectors and engagement with parents/carers and children and young people. 42nd St have 
also been successful in a bid for DfE/DoH funding to support the scale up and roll out of their on 
line offer (a CCG Innovation Pilot). Our local funding provided the match for this bid. 

2.7  Salford’s Population Health Plan is funded via Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
(GMCA) to deliver transformation programmes under the ‘Age Well’ and ‘Start Well’ agendas. The 

Alliance – lead 
provider 42nd St

ICRS – 42nd St, MIND in Salford and Self-
Help Services

October 2019
Joint business Case with MHCC

MFT – as part 
of alliance

CAMHS Consultation role (for ICRS- see 
above)

October  2019 – part of ICRS 
business case as above

MFT Core CAMHS (Tier 3)
December 2019 
Single report to cover all MFT 
investments as below (except ICR 
consultation role)

MFT Targeted CAMHS - Focus  & i-Start December 2019 – as above

MFT Targeted CAMHS - YJS (Youth Justice 
Service) December 2019 – as above 

MFT Targeted CAMHS - BME Service December 2019- as above 

MFT Targeted CAMHS - LD December 2019 – as above 

MFT CAMHS Single Point of Contact - PILOT December 2019 – as above 

MFT CAMHS - Schools Link PILOT December 2019 – as above

MFT Community Eating Disorder Service December 2019 – as above.
Joint business case with MHCC. 

GMMH All Age mental Health Liaison (RAID) December 2019
Joint Business Case with Bolton 
CCG

Page 94



9

population heath programme supports the ‘Children are Thriving’ theme and contributes to the 
children’s emotional health agenda and CAMHS Transformation plan priorities as outlined below. 
A review and evaluation will be undertaken across the whole programme this year to inform 
sustainability plans and ongoing activity post March 2020.

B. Contracts and Services

2.8 Core CAMHS - CCGs have a statutory duty to offer core CAMHS services to its local population. 
Current contract arrangements are via a pan-GM service specification that is included in the 
existing multi-lateral NHS Standard Contract held between NHS Manchester CCG (as co-
ordinating commissioner) and Manchester Foundation Trust (as provider). Salford CCG is an 
associate commissioner to this contract. The contract value of the core service is determined on a 
planned activity basis, in line with national PbR tariff prices. Historically, core CAMHS services 
have been paid for directly by Salford CCG.

2.9 Targeted CAMHS - Targeted CAMH services are designed to offer locally tailored, enhanced 
care for specific patient / service user cohorts. These services are not mandatory but do follow 
national guidance and are designed to complement core services and to meet locally identified 
needs, via bespoke services to support particular vulnerable groups. Most targeted CAMHS are 
delivered by MFT as extensions to the core CAMHS service, though there are also other targeted 
CYP mental health services provided by GMMH and 42nd Street as outlined in 2.14 and 2.15 
below. Targeted services are currently commissioned on a block basis. Historically, they have 
been funded in one of 3 ways:

 Jointly – by both the CCG and Local Authority;

 Directly – by the CCG; 

 Directly – by the Local Authority

2.10 There are currently no formal contracts in place to support management of targeted CAMH 
services. Though specifications or projects briefs do exist for most services, some are now 
outdated and are currently going through a review/update process. A number of specifications 
have now been revised and subject to Council SLT sign off will be varied into the core contract as 
addendums to the GM specification. All targeted services will have up to date service specification 
addendums in place by March 2020.

2.11 Commissioned targeted CAMH services that are recurrently funded in Salford are as follows:

Projects Total investment 2017-2020

Integrated Health & Wellbeing £400,000

Emotionally Friendly Schools £260,000

EHWB Training £175,000

Counselling in Schools £75,000

Learning for Life £100,00

Page 95



10

 Looked after children – This targeted service provides assessment and formulation 
based on the needs and wishes of looked after children/young people, families and 
carers. The service offers a range of short term and intensive evidence based and 
research informed interventions to children, young people, families and carers according 
to type and level of need. The service was commissioned based on Department for 
Education and Department of Health joint statutory guidance published in 2015 on 
promoting the health and well-being of looked-after children which recognised that almost 
half of children in care have a diagnosable mental health disorder. The risk of child 
mental health disorders is estimated up to six times higher in vulnerable groups of 
children and young people e.g. Looked After Children. There are currently 584 LAC in 
Salford (@ 14.08.19). All Salford looked after children are now routinely assessed at the 6 
week point to determine whether support is needed and what type/level. The revised 
service specification for CAMHS LAC now brings together all CCG (Starlac) and Council 
funded CAMHS LAC provision and describes this as a single integrated service, which in 
reality is how the service is delivered. It is a priority that funding for the integration of 
CAMHS LAC services (including funding of previously Council funded elements) is 
incorporated re-currently in the CCG core budget from April 2019. The CCG agreed to a 
business case to fund this work in December 2018.

 Youth Justice Service – aims to improve the emotional wellbeing / regulation and 
mental health of young people involved with the Youth Justice Service, with referrals for 
YP aged 10 to 18 years old, though the majority are of the older age range (15-17 yr 
olds). The Service provides a high quality, accessible CAMHS resource integrated with 
the YJS multi-agency health team, which includes screening, assessment, intervention 
and sign postings. The YJS CAMHS Worker supports skills development of YJS workers 
to appropriately assess and screen young people in relation to emotional and mental 
health, and supports the service improve the understanding of children and young 
people’s emotional,  psychological and mental health needs amongst in the context of 
children / young people who offend or at risk of offending. Young people involved with the 
Youth Justice Service (YJS) are recognised as having a high rate of emotional and 
behavioural difficulties often in the context of family relationship difficulties. This need has 
increased further due to recent changes in the Youth Justice System which have resulted 
in a change in the number and type of referrals coming through to the YJS, with higher 
levels needs, risk and complexity. This is a Council funded post.

 16-17 year olds in Salford (Emerge) - is a targeted mental health service for 16-17yr 
olds experiencing moderate to severe mental health problems, which are having an 
adverse impact on their daily functioning. It offers a range of high quality, accessible, 
young person centred, community based, mental health services directly to young people 
in their own right. The service is offered directly to young people and involves them in all 
aspects of their care, supporting any new referrals of 16 and 17 year olds or those aged 
16-17 entering CAMHS with a new episode of care. Young people already being seen 
within core CAMHS would not be supported via Emerge. This service is tailored to meet 
the specific needs and challenges of older young people that are transitioning through 
education and into adulthood and aims to see young people within 4 weeks of receipt of 
referral. Although it is not a crisis service, young people requiring an urgent assessment 
are prioritised. This service already delivers on the GM specification requirement that by 
2021 all GM CAMHS will offer services up to age 18.

 Children and young people with severe LD and / or ASD - This specialist provision for 
the children and young people with learning disabilities in Salford is an embedded part of 
the CAMHS service. It provides specific mental health support for those with learning 
difficulties in the city. The service offers outreach and has strong ties with the special 
schools in the city as well as offering a service to any child or young person who may be 
in mainstream school or not in state school provision. In addition the LD service currently 
supports the diagnosis of neurodevelopmental conditions such as ADHD and ASD. The 

Page 96



11

number of referrals for neurodevelopmental conditions is currently one of the main 
challenges of the service due to high demand. In 2018 the LD service received an 
increased investment (uplift) to fund 2 further posts to undertake the work of meeting with 
all families and preparing each case for diagnosis. One of those roles is ongoing, the 
other is time limited for 12 months only to reduce the waiting list. The intention moving 
forward is to see all referrals within the national waiting times. In addition commissioners 
are working with all partners across the city to design and deliver an integrated 
Neurodevelopmental Needs Led Pathway which can provide support and advice for all 
families and a diagnosis for those who need it. This will provide a more co-ordinated and 
efficient service for those families.

 BME populations – This was a specialist provision for black and minority ethnic groups 
in Salford and was established a number of years ago. However, delivery ended in 
December 2018 due to the departure of the post holder. It was therefore timely to review 
the specification and purpose and function of the post in terms of current need. The 
intention is to integrate the work into the team and to enable staff across the whole CAMH 
service to offer an outreach and engagement approach, with the aim of improving access 
to all vulnerable groups in Salford, taking account of our known at risk groups that are 
less likely to engage in mental health services, including Salford’s BME communities 
(especially young black men) but also young people from the Orthodox Jewish 
community, refugees or newly arrived young people and LGBTQ+ young people. The 
service is currently being re-specified to take account of this.

2.12 In addition to the above recurrently funded local targeted CAMH services outlined above, 
Salford CCG and MHCC has jointly commissioned an integrated Manchester and Salford 
Community Eating Disorder service as a time limited variation to the core CAMH service and 
funded via respective CAMHS Transformation Plan budgets. This contract was extended up to 
end of September 2019, but it in the process of being extended up to end of March 2020 to allow 
for a GM led review and local business plans. Please see below the project outline and 
commissioning intensions for this service:

 MSEDS – jointly commissioned with MHCC, Manchester and Salford Community Eating 
Disorder service delivers on the national requirements outlined in the 5 Yr Forward View 
to provide a specialist eating disorder service for children and young people, and is 
measured against national access and waiting time standards which required that 
treatment should start within a maximum of 4 weeks from first contact with a designated 
healthcare professional for routine cases and within 1 week for urgent cases. This is a 
statutory service and MFT consistently meets/exceeds the national standards (see 
section 3). The service is held up as the gold standard in the current GM review of eating 
disorder services which aims to develop GM CEDS service standards, improve 
performance and consistency across GM via a shared outcomes framework standards. 
The review initially aimed to report by end of March 2019, but is now expected to report 
by end of September, thus MHCC have requested a further extension to the current 
contract to end of March 2020 to allow for the review to complete and new specification to 
be implemented. A joint business case for service continuation will be brought to SFG as 
part of the MFT report in December 2019. The review will provide a standard GM service 
specification and outcomes framework. Numbers supported by the service are relatively 
small overall with 46 in total being supported in 2018-19 because eating disorders are not 
that common. However, the service does also provide advice and guidance around 
‘eating issues’ that are not defined as a disorder. 

2.13 In addition to MFT core and targeted CAMHS, a number of other CYP targeted mental health 
services have been commissioned locally as part of the Salford Thrive offer. 42nd Street pre dates 
our CAMHS Transformation Plan work but other services that have been developed specifically in 
response to our transformation work programme (see 2.15). 

Page 97



12

2.14 Tier 2 Mental Health (delivered by 42nd Street) was commissioned by the Council in 2016 
to provide a lower level (initially described as Tier 2/2.5) mental health service for CYP aged 13 – 
25 to compliment the CAMHS pathway and to improve access to support for young people with 
emotional health and wellbeing difficulties, that did not meet CAMHS thresholds and to provide 
earlier support to prevent needs from escalating. The service was designed to provide targeted 
support throughout key education and work transition points for young people through secondary 
school age, FE/training and HE and to support those transitioning from education into work and 
into adulthood by providing support up to age 25, so as not to fall into gaps between CYP and 
adult provision. Full funding for the service shifted from the Council to the CCG in 2015. Due to 
significant pressures on the service through increased demand and impacts on waiting times, the 
service has been supported with an increase (uplift) in its budget from April 2018, and the 
business case for re-current increased funding is being taken alongside this report. This uplift has 
provided match funding for a successful national DfE/DoE bid to fund scale up and rollout of the 
42nd Street Online Innovation Pilot. Salford CCG have agreed to support this via an MoU.

2.15 In addition to the commissioned targeted services outlined above, further services and pilots 
have been developed, tested and funded through CAMHS Transformation Plan in response to 
both national and local priorities, including:

 CAMHS School Link / i-Reach  - Salford was selected and funded by a joint DfE and 
DoH initiative as one of 26 national pilots to test ways to improve links between CAMHS 
and schools. The initial pilot provided £50,000 national funding as match for CCG 
CAMHS Transformation monies to work with 10 Salford schools and involved delivery of 
training and engagement sessions by the Anna Freud centre to improve understanding of 
the issues/barriers between CAMHS and schools, increase awareness of school 
professionals around CYP mental health and of CAMHS services and pathways. The 
project recruited a dedicated CAMHS School Link Worker to offer further training and 
support and to develop and improve relationships between CAMHS and Schools, and to 
establish safe processes for direct referrals to CAMHS by dedicated and trained mental 
health leads in schools. Via CAMHS Transformation funding the service has evolved and 
grown with rollout to over 30 schools in years two and three, and has now engaged over 
60 schools in total. In 2018, the scope and funding was extended to include consultation 
and liaison and training to schools and the wider CYP workforce, and targeted clinical 
interventions for vulnerable Year 6 pupils through two new ‘i-Reach’ posts (qualified CYP 
EHWB practitioners) in schools settings. This service has also been key to improving 
school ADHD pathways. This service is currently being evaluated in order to inform the 
business case for the future delivery model and funding required from April 2020.

 Single Point of Contact Single Point of Contact - The aims of the pilot were to test the 
effectiveness of a single point of contact in Salford to support improved access and 
pathways into CAMHS and/or other EHWB or wider support services (our local Thrive 
offer). They key features of the pilot included:

o Initial risk assessment to ensure children and young people at high 
risk are seen as a priority.

o manage referrals swiftly and determines the best service to meet an 
identified need (step up / step down) in line with the i-Thrive model, 

o Work with other frontline staff to build knowledge and capacity around 
mental health and help improve how cases are dealt with and needs 
are met, skilling up / training others to identify emotional wellbeing 
issues & refer accordingly, and 

o Provision of timely access to advice and consultation on 
pathways/referrals for front line staff and professionals (including GPs, 
Schools not part of the CAMHS Schools Pilot, School Nurses, Health 

Page 98



13

Visitors, Youth Services, Social Workers and The Bridge) to discuss 
concerns/cases and make informed decisions about whether to refer 
young people on and where to in line with the i-Thrive model.

The pilot was evaluated after 12 months and has shown this be an important 
development to the CAMHS offer in terms of a ‘no door wrong door’ Thrive aligned 
model, and improved access to timely advice and consultation for referring 
professionals. The Thrive Project Delivery Group has agreed to the extension of 
funding to end of March 2020, and recurrent/increased funding will be requested in 
the planned business case to SFG in December, through integration within the core 
CAMHS contract. 

 ICRS – this is our Integrated Community Response pilot which was co-produced and co-
commissioned across Manchester and Salford. 42nd Street are the lead provider but the 
service involves an alliance of providers including CAMHS, Self Help Services and Mind in 
Salford. The pilot went live in October 2017 to test provision of an early assessment and brief 
interventions in targeted settings for children and young people who present with high levels 
of psycho-social distress and risk, caused by the combined impact of their social / family 
situation on their mental health. The aim is to intervene early, offer short term de-escalation 
support and to reduce need for A&E attendances / admissions to in-patient beds with a step 
up / step down into other community services when stable. Through co-location in universal 
services, ICRS has supported more vulnerable CYP in the community, through an integrated 
‘risk support’ community offer. The pilot settings in Salford were initially Clifton PRU and the 
Missing from Home Team/Early Help Outreach Team. Since 2018 the 2 settings have been 
Clifton PRU and the Central Early Help locality team (in Broughton). 

The Anna Freud Centre for Children and Families (Co- Producers of the Thrive new 
model of care) was commissioned to produce an interim evaluation report has 
informed a review and supported a business case to MHCC to request a further 
extension of the pilot to March 2020, and a final evaluation which was presented to 
stakeholders in May 2019. Both evaluation reports have provided strong evidence to 
support MHCC and Salford CCG to recommend that the service is continued based 
on current annual funding levels from April 2020. Salford stakeholders have met to 
review and re-scope the model based on learning of what’s worked to date and to 
ensure further alignment with Council neighbourhood-based Early Help structures. 
Anna Freud have held the model up as good practice, complimentary to the GM 
Crisis Care Pathway and capable of reducing unnecessary A&E presentations / CCP 
referrals through early intervention in communities. The ICRS business case is 
planned to go to SFG in October/November 2019. 

All Age Liaison (formerly known as RAID) - is a Children and Young People’s 
Mental Health Liaison Service commissioned as a key element of the GM Crisis Care 
Pathway and aims to improve the quality, effectiveness and efficiency of urgent and 
emergency assessment and onward care planning for those young people aged 
under 16 who present in A&E settings to support individuals to receive the right care 
in the right place at the right time.  This is an extension to the existing Adult service 
working with young people aged 16 years and above and delivers on national 
requirements set out in the Five Year Forward View. The specification was 
developed to provide MH assessments for young people in A&E/PANDA/Urgent Care 
Centre sites in Bolton, Salford & Trafford other localities are currently planning 
implementation of this service but Bolton and Salford were early implementers with 
Salford’s service going live in May 2018. From May 2018 to end of March 2019, the 

Page 99



14

service has supported 223 under 16s attending PANDA. The 9 month review showed 
that 160 (85%) of the 188 under 16s assessed between May 2018 – Jan 2019 were 
Salford residents. Up to end of March 2019, 45% of referrals were known to CAMHS. 

This service is funded via CAMHS TP funding and was jointly commissioned with and 
led by Bolton CCG. The contract runs from April 2018 – March 2020, and is currently 
undergoing a joint service review, with a meeting planned with GMMH Service 
Managers in September 2019.  A joint business case will be developed and taken 
through respective CCG governance structures (including SFG) for recurrent funding 
in November/December. The service review will inform further rollout of All Age 
Liaison as part of the GM Crisis Care Pathway, and Salford’s Adult Commissioning 
team who lead on the service commissioning for people aged 16+. 

 Odd Art Drama Workshops - Odd Arts, an educational theatre group, have been 
commissioned annually for the past 3 years by Salford CCG to deliver a drama performance 
and workshop to Year 9 pupils in all the Salford high schools. Key themes addressed through 
the drama workshops are self-harm, anxiety / self-confidence, body image and eating 
disorders, through the play is adapted each year to ensure it is current regarding issues and 
advice offered. Schools consistently feed-back that the production a really positive learning 
experience for participants and it offers an opportunity to explore and talk about mental health 
issues in a way that is open and non-judgemental and involves young people in determine the 
options and outcomes for characters. Pupils report feeling more able to ask for help and find 
the right help for their friends after seeing the production. These drama workshops remain a 
non - recurrent annual investment, subject to sufficient available resource in the CAMHS 
Transformation budget.  The Thrive Project Oversight Group have supported the annual rec-
commissioning based on evaluation reports and impact for young and full costs are included 
in the 2019-20 budget for a further round of workshops to be delivered in Spring 2020, 
however, consideration will be given to exploring co-investment and long terms sustainability 
by schools in the drama’s from 2021.

 Home-Start Baby Bond – Home-start Trafford and Salford was jointly commissioned with 
Trafford Council for 2 years up to March 2020 to deliver a peri-natal mental health offer in 
both localities in response to the evidence that expectant and new mothers are at significantly 
increased risk of experiencing mental health difficulties during this period and this can 
negatively impact on outcomes for new born babies / young children. Home-start supports 
families who are struggling with a range of issues such as post-natal depression, isolation, 
health problems, bereavement and any other issue that requires support. The organisation 
support over 200 families per year who are struggling to cope; over 80% of these families 
have an infant under the age of 2. The Baby Bond project is managed by qualified specialist 
PIMH co-ordinators and is delivered through a bank of over 50 trained volunteers from many 
backgrounds who are individually matched to parents/families to provide targeted support. 
Parents are supported to have a greater understanding of their child’s needs and how to meet 
them, which will improve family wellbeing and resilience. The core objectives of the project 
are:

o Earlier Help -  an enhanced level of support to existing families through the 
core Home-Start programme

o Support for parents and expectant parents who require mental health support 
to form more secure and positive attachments with their 0-2 year old infant, to 
have a greater understanding of their child’s needs and how to meet them

o Improved parental wellbeing through reduced isolation and improved self-
esteem 

o Improve parenting skills by modelling good parenting
o Improve child health and wellbeing

Page 100



15

o Up-skilled volunteers who have received specialist  training  in Parent and 
Infant Mental Health, child development and attachment

o Increase volunteer confidence, opportunities and employment prospects 
through gaining skills and experience

The project is in its second year and is currently under review in partnership with 
Trafford commissioners to inform future commissioning plans. Future funding has not 
been included in the Salford CAMHS Transformation Budget from 2020 as it was 
envisaged that, if sustained, the service would be funded as part of Salford’s Peri-
natal Infant Mental Health programme. Salford’s PIMH commissioning leads have 
been engaged to support the service review and ensure smooth transition.

 Parent Peer Support Project 2019-20 - This project is delivered by the Health Improvement 
Team in Salford City Council and provides a 3 days a week co-ordination role to support 
parents across the city to set up peer support (self-help) groups based on issues that parents 
have specifically identified as areas in which they need ongoing support, particularly past 
diagnosis of mental health and special educational needs and disabilities and associated 
issues within the family. These were issues identified through engagement with parents and 
parent support workers both of whom have been pro-actively involved in shaping the project, 
including one parent with experience of setting up her own group. The project is supporting 
parents to access dedicated training on key topics they the need to know more about and 
opportunities to invite guest speakers and relevant professionals to come and talk to parents 
and answer their questions and concerns. The goal is to empower the parents and for them to 
become more resilient, and more confident in understanding the issues and supporting their 
children and families. The project is non-recurrently funded through CAMHS TF for 12 
months, with potential to fund for a further 12 months, subject to performance/impact and 
availability of funding.

2.16 Other services and pathways are commissioned in GM that may, in the future, have 
implications for / influence our local commissioning plans, but through GM governance 
arrangements such as GM CYP Mental Health Board, GM Future in Mind (CAMHS) 
Commissioner’s Group and GM Crisis Care Steering Group these will in time be better 
understood. The examples below are not exhaustive but include:

 GM Crisis Care Pathway - the full funding is currently provided via GM Health and Social 
Care budgets but we may incur costs later 

 Crisis care links to local provision (implications for Salford’s wider system) to include IYSS, 
Adult/Parental MH services, financial and debt advice services, substance misuse, community 
paediatrics, social care potential future increase on existing services, A&E Panda Unit

 Links to the adult Living Well service/system
 GM mental health in education programme – links to Salford schools EFS/CAMHS Link offer 

3. Performance Against National Expectations

3.1 Commissioners are responsible for reporting performance against 3 national 
Children’s mental health KPIs / measures,  relating to: improved access to NHS 
funded community MH services for children and young people and timely access to 
children and young people eating disorders. 

3.2 At Quarter 1 2019/20 commissioner performance against all national targets is as 
follows (performance information for Quarters 3 and 4 of the 18/19 financial year is 
included for retrospective comparison):

Page 101



16

Indicator Description Target Data Source Q1 
1920

Q2
1920

Q3
1819

Q4
1819 Traj.

At least 34% of CYP with 
diagnosable MH condition 
treated in NHS funded 
community MH service 
*performance is 
cumulative across the 
year, working towards a 
year-end total

Quarterly 
-  8.5%
Annual 

(2019-20) 
– 34%

Nationally 
Published – 
Cumulative 
(Quarterly 
Snapshot 

Performance 
in Brackets)

Not 
yet 

publis
hed*

36.8%
(9.6%)

45%
(8.2%)

% of CYP with eating 
disorders seen within 1 
week (urgent)

75% Nationally 
Published

100% 
(1/1) 

100% 
(3/3)

100% 
(2/2)

% of CYP with eating 
disorders seen within 4 
weeks (routine)

80% Nationally 
Published

80% 
(4/5) 

100% 
(14/14

)

90.9% 
(10/11)

*Please note that the provisional 2019/20 Q1 cumulative position is 21.5% based on 
published data. Data for 18/19 Q1 was at 17.1%. Salford is therefore already on track to 
exceed the expected target for Q1. See table below.

2019-20 Mental Health | Improve inequitable rates of access to 
Children & Young People’s Mental Health Services
Source: MHSDS NHS 
Digital

REPORTING_PERIOD STATUS Number Denominator % cumulative
Apr-19 Final 450 5445 8.3%
May-19 Final 380 15.2%
Jun-19 Provisional* 340 21.5%

3.3 Salford consistently exceeds national access targets for children and young people 
(CYP) receiving treatment and access and waiting times to CYP Eating Disorder 
services.

3.4 These targets are monitored both locally and at GM level as is shown in the table 
below, which highlights Salford within the top 3 performing CCGs. The picture is the 
same for our Community Eating Disorder Service performance and the joint 
Manchester / Salford service is held up as the model of good practice for GM and is 
helping to shape standards and a model specification for GM as part of a peer review 
which is due to report by end of September.

Page 102



17

4. Quality assurance and governance – CYP EHWB/Thrive work programme

4.1 Salford CCG and Council have joined up the programme for Children and Young 
People’s emotional health and wellbeing / ‘Thrive’ programme, including Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS). The Thrive Partnership acts as the 
‘expert reference group’ and The CAMHS Transformation Plan provides the 
overarching structure/plan, and progress against our ‘Ambitions’ and actions are 
managed through an integrated Thrive Delivery Plan. The CCG and Council has 
established joint governance arrangements to oversee and support this joint work 
programme via a joint Thrive Project Oversight Group, co-chaired by the CCG clinical 
Lead for Children and Young People and the Council’s Assistant Director of Nursing 
and Wellbeing / Chair of Salford’s Children and Young People’s Emotional Health 
and Wellbeing (EHWB) Partnership.  Salford’s Thrive Delivery Plan is embedded 
below for information and provides the context for our commissioning plans and 
investments.

Final Draft Thrive 
Combined Project Plan 2019-20 03.06.19.xlsx

4.2 The Thrive Project Group meets quarterly and oversees the CAMHS Transformation 
Plan and delivery plan, CAMHS Transformation Funding and associated 
commissioning activity. Reporting arrangements to date have been via the CCG 
Children and Young People’s Commissioning Group (CYPCG) and Commissioning 
Committee, as well as the 0-25 Programme Oversight Group (POG) and joint 0-25 
Board. The Health and Wellbeing Board also provides the final approval of the 
CAMHS Transformation Plan prior to publication.

4.3 Contracts are managed locally for CAMHS and 42nd street contracts via quarterly 
joint CCG/Council monitoring meetings and comprehensive quarterly reports are 

Page 103



18

provided for both services.  The CAMHS quarterly monitoring meeting and report 
covers all CAMHS services (core and targeted) and there is an additional CAMHS 
LAC meeting to review progress of services that support looked after children and 
fostering. A twice yearly meeting is also held with the Youth Justice Service Manager 
and CAMHS YJS lead to review progress and performance.

4.4 Salford is well represented across the range of GM mental health related meetings 
that support GM health and social care programme oversight and governance 
arrangements. Charlotte Ramsden co-chairs the GM CYP MH Board and Debbie 
Blackburn chairs the GM Mental Health in Education Advisory Group. There is a GM 
Crisis Care Steering Group on which we sit, and performance and activity relating to 
all aspects of the pathway are reported and considered. We also attend monthly GM 
Future in Mind (CAMHS Commisisoner’s) Group and the Data Club (sub group), and 
are a member of task and finish groups such as the GM Eating Disorder service peer 
review.  

4.5 Local All Age Liaison data for CYP aged 0-16 and 16-18 is provided monthly by 
GMMH to Bolton and Salford commissioners and this data is reported/discussed in 
GM meetings to inform the rollout of All Age Liaison Mental health provision across 
other localities. A joint evaluation of All Age Liaison is underway and will to inform 
future commissioning plans in Salford and Bolton, and in GM thorugh the GM Crisis 
Care Pathway.

4.6 Quarterly joint monitoring arrangements are also in place with Trafford MBC for the 
Home-Start Baby Bond project and with Manchester (MHCC) for the ICRS pilot and 
our joint Community Eating Disorder Service (MSEDS). Salford is also invited to 
attend MHCC contract meetings with MFT and 42nd St.

5. Commissioned services – performance and activity

5.1 This section will be developed further during 2019-20 alongside other quarterly 
assurance reports for Children and Young People’s health and social care, and with 
feedback from SFG on what would be helpful. The plan over the next 12 months is to 
develop a CYP MH service activity and performance summary dashboard, based on 
headline performance information and exceptions (risk/issues) aligned to:

 The GM Service Specification Outcomes reporting requirements and Salford’s 
Integrated CAMHS monitoring reports, including workforce expansion

 Quarterly reports for 42nd Street core service and new on line services

 ICRS performance reports 

 All Age Liaison performance reports

 GM Crisis Care performance reports covering: RRTs, assessment centre/inpatient 
data and Safe Zones as these are developed.

5.2 The planned CYP MH dashboard will be specific to commissioned services and will 
not seek to duplicate existing performance information and data currently included in 
the wider EHWB Dashboard which is collated and reported to the Thrive Partnership 
(embedded below for reference).

Page 104



19

EHWB Data 
Dashboard - Q1-4 (2018-19).pdf

5.3 Current service activity and performance issues – on the whole services are 
delivering well, exceeding national targets and meeting GM/local requirements. 
Salford CAMHS, delivered by MFT has twice been CQC inspected and rated 
‘outstanding’. Outcomes / recovery rating for CYP mental health services are still in 
development and currently only monitored by GM for CAMHS services but show 
recovery MFT as above national, regional and sub regional (see below). 42nd st also 
monitor outcomes and recover data and performance is consistently above national 

i) Outcomes and recovery Ratings data – CAMHS 
GM outcome monitoring reports shows closed referrals received after 1st Jan 2016, 
the % of those with at least 2 contacts and the % that have reliably improved. In 
October 2018, this showed:

% with at least 2 
contacts

% that reliably 
improved

England 35.5 29.1
GM 36.9 *
MFT 45.3 35.6
North West Boroughs 38.4 26.3
Pennine Care 33.6 *

ii) Outcomes and recovery Ratings data – 42nd St
The national YP- CORE target for clinically significant improvement or recovery is 
50%. 42nd Street recovery rates are consistently higher than nationally and ranged 
from 69% - 100% of young people with comparable data per quarter in 2018/19. 
During the year, 42nd St also implemented additional recovery measures 
(ORS/CORS - (Child) Outcomes Rating Scale) and this is being monitored against 
national benchmarks. Early indications show that recovery rates are consistently 
high. 

5.4 Demand for services (referrals) has increased significantly across all services in 
recent years, in line with national targets and requirements to increase access into 
CYP mental health services increased. See tables below.

5.5 Demand (referral rates) to 42nd Street’s core service in Salford have been rising 
year on year, as can be seen from the graph below.42nd Street has struggled more 
with managing the increased demand due to the very small team covering Salford 
and lack of capacity in the service to cope with this pressure. Increased funding in 
the core service 2018-19 has increased capacity (from 2.0 to 4.4 WTE) which has 
helped to manage the increased volume of referrals and to stabilise waits from 
increasing further, but there is more work to be done to bring these down to 
acceptable levels and work within NHS standards as there is for CAMHS. There are 
currently no expected service standards for waiting times and this will be a key area 
for improvement linked to the accompanying business case which recommends that 

Page 105



20

increased core funding is required recurrently.  There is more detail on 42nd service 
activity and challenges in the business case, thus it is not repeated here.

CAMHS referrals 2017/18 and 2018/19

42nd St New referrals 2014-2019

5.6 Waiting Times – The increased demand across services has impacted on the 
capacity of services to be able to manage the increased demand, and this has had a 
detrimental impact on waiting times for both CAMHS and 42nd Street over recent 
years. Increased investment into both services, combined with service redesign and 

Page 106



21

transformation work has helped to mitigate this and CAMHS in particular have 
managed to significantly reduce waiting times for first and second contacts, with 
more work to do on reducing the waits to third appointments which remain skewed by 
neurodevelopment referrals. CAMHS waits are now monitored consistently by GM 
and recent policy changes in how waits and DNAs are defined and measured across 
GM mean that MFT now compares well with other services, as can be seen in the 
tables below 

April 2019 – CAMHS Waits to first Appointment (6 weeks or less) 

April 2019 – CAMHS Waits to second Appointment (12  weeks or less) 

42nd St Waiting Times 2017 -2019

Page 107



22

5.6 DNA rates (often now referred to as Child Not Brought) have reduced across both 
services through various improvements to pathways, including increased use of 
phone and text reminders, the role of the Single Point of Contact in CAMHS and 
CAMHS School Link project in supporting the right referral pathways which has 
helped to reduce the proportion of inappropriate referrals from professionals, and the 
introduction of telephone assessments in 42nd St. See 42nd St DNA reduction below.

42nd Street - DNAs (2016 -2019)

6. Commissioned services – contract developments 

6.1 CAMHS Contract Developments – This section is designed to provide an update and 
recommendations regarding any CAMHS contract proposals or developments in the 
short, medium and longer terms.

 Short term (September ’19 – March ’20) – As mentioned earlier, there are no 
‘wrap-around’ contracting arrangements in place for any of the locally commissioned, 
recurrently funded targeted CAMHS services. To avoid this risk, it is proposed that 
each of these will be varied into the existing MFT contract led by Manchester CCG 
following review and revision, where necessary.

 

Page 108



23

Currently, most targeted CAMHS specifications are outdated and are under review/ 
subject to planned reviews. The table immediately below sets out the expected 
timeline for completion and sign-off of each of these specification reviews.

Targeted Service: Latest Position: Expected Sign-Off
Emerge Salford (16-17 Year 
Olds)

Draft specification addendum Awaiting SLT sign off 
(22.08.19)

Looked After Children Draft specification addendum As above

Youth Justice Service Draft specification addendum As above

BME Service Under review/re-specification Dec 2019

Learning Disabilities Service Specification in Draft Dec 2019

Single Point of Contact Evaluation complete. Specification 
addendum required.

Dec 2019

CAMHS/School Link Evaluation due September 2019. 
Specification addendum required.

December 2019

MSEDS Subject to GM Peer review and new 
GM specification by end of Sept 2019. 

December 2019

All Age liaison Under evaluation – joint with Bolton 
CCG.

November/December 
2019

ICRS Specification redraft in progress – joint 
with MHCC.

End Sept 2019

 Medium term (April ’20 – April ’21) – During the 2020/21 financial year, a full review of the 
overall CAMHS contracting arrangements is proposed. This will take into account a range of 
factors (e.g. contract currency, commissioning / incentivising for delivery of outcomes, 
staffing, association etc.) That, alongside routine contract monitoring processes, will be tested 
to ensure Salford is achieving best value from the existing arrangements and to see if there 
are any opportunities for efficiency.

Updates on the review will be presented to Service and Finance Group during this 
period. It is expected that a full report will be presented, with recommendations, to 
Service and Finance Group to support a new contractual arrangement by March 
2021. 

 Longer term (April ’21 onwards) - This will be dependent on the review referred to above 
and will take account of any planned changes to GM commissioning and related service 
specifications.

7. Recommendations

Service and Finance Group is asked to:

Page 109



24

1) Note the contents of this report and to provide any feedback on what would be helpful in 
future reports; 

2) Support the plans and progress to date to review all services/contracts, update service 
specifications, and  current governance, performance management and quality assurance 
arrangements;

3) Support the recommendation that all current CAMHS Transformation (non-recurrent) funded 
services and projects are funded to end of March 2020 to allow for completion of: service 
reviews, updates to service specifications, variations/addendums to the GM CAMHS contract, 
and businesses cases for recurrent funding to be tabled via SFG as outlined in the proposed 
schedule in section 2.5.

4) Sign the required MoU required to support the national funding award to 42nd Street bid to 
scale up / roll out their Salford on line offer, as per Salford’s signed letter of support in 
February in which the Council and CCG agreed to provide match funding via the 42nd Street 
uplift.

Chris Ogden
Senior Contracts Manager

Emily Edwards
Senior Integrated Commissioning Manager

Page 110



 

                                                          

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE (CCC) 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

11 September 2019 (Date of Meeting)

Report of: Chief Finance Officer

Date of Paper: 30th August 2019

Subject: Finance Report

In case of query 
Please contact:

Steve Dixon, Chief Finance Officer and 
Deputy Chief Accountable Officer
0161 212 4804

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
 Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care

 Enabling Transformation
Purpose of Paper:                                   

The purpose of this paper is to provide the Children’s Commissioning Committee with:

• An update on the 2019/20 financial performance of the Integrated Fund for Children 
services (Section 3)

Further explanatory information required

Page 111

Agenda Item 11



 

                                                          

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM?

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

Footnote:

Members of Children’s Commissioning Committee (ACC) will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed 
no amendments are possible.

Page 112



  

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?
Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 



Legal Advice Sought


Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)


Detailed financial position reported to 
the Service and Finance Group on 
3rd September 2019.

A more detailed report and 
analysis on the children’s 
spend has been requested for 
October and November.

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 113



  

Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC)
Finance Report – 11th September 2019

1. Executive Summary

This finance report provides the Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) with an in-
year update on how the children’s element of the Integrated Fund is performing in this 
financial year (2019/20).  This report is based on month 4 (July 2019) finance information.  

Based on the latest financial information, the children’s element of the Integrated Fund is 
currently forecasting to overspend by £7.4m in 2019/20.  This is a similar value that was 
previously reported to July’s CCC.

Section 2 highlights the main areas of over and under spend within the children’s 
Integrated Fund.  The main area of overspend related to Looked After Children service line, 
of which £4.7m relates to Out of Area placements (Appendix 1). 

The CCG has agreed an additional £3m investment into Children’s services to test a new 
model of care and increase staffing in Salford which should reduce the number of out of 
area placements.  Any financial savings associated with this investment have not been 
included in this year’s financial forecast.  Tis new model will go live in November.

The Children’s Commissioning Committee is asked to note the in-year and forecast 
position for the children’s Integrated Fund for 2019/20.

2. 2019/20 IN YEAR MONITORING

2.1 This latest finance report provides the Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) 
with in-year update on how the Children’s element of the Integrated Fund is 
performing in the financial year (2019/20).  

2.2 The appendices contain a lot of detail and are appended to give members a more 
thorough understanding of the scope of the Integrated Fund.  There are explanatory 
notes included in the appendices which hopefully explain the key messages 
contained within them.

2.3 This finance report is based on information up to the end of July 2019.  A detailed 
analysis of the position for each of the children’s services within the Integrated Fund 
is shown in Appendices One to Six.

2.4 The Service and Finance Group (SFG) have reviewed the budgets in detail at the 
meeting on the 3rd September 2019.  At this stage of the year, the year-end forecast 
on children’s services is an over performance of £7.4m, as shown in Table 1 below.

Page 114



  

Table 1: 2019/20 Financial Summary

YTD 
Budget

 YTD Actual
YTD 

Variance
Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
CCC

Movement in 
Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s Notes

TOTAL FUNDING £29,044 £29,044 - £116,178 £116,178 - - - 

Safeguarding £88 £92 £4 £351 £348 (£3) £4 (£7)
Looked After Children £5,551 £7,272 £1,721 £22,204 £29,124 £6,920 £6,754 £166 Appendix 1
Localities £2,234 £2,387 £153 £8,936 £9,338 £402 £171 £231
Complex Needs SEN £1,304 £1,388 £84 £5,215 £5,781 £566 £385 £182
Partnerships £922 £998 £76 £3,690 £3,723 £34 £42 (£8)
Asset Management & Delivery £261 £267 £6 £1,043 £974 (£70) (£2) (£68)
Transforming Learning £564 £545 (£19) £2,256 £2,154 (£103) - (£103)
Early Years (Early Intervention/Starting Life Well) - - - - - - £19 (£19)
Skills & Work / Careers £365 £342 (£23) £1,460 £1,460 - (£92) £92
Helping Families £321 £204 (£117) £1,284 £1,284 - - -
Resources & Investment £1,674 £1,683 £10 £6,694 £6,579 (£115) £13 (£128)
Children's Administration £347 £378 £31 £1,387 £1,414 £26 £129 (£103)
Specific Grants £4,453 £4,843 £390 £17,812 £17,812 - - -
PH Looked After Children (next steps post) £5 £5 - £21 £21 - - -
PH 0-19 Services  £1,318 £1,318 - £5,270 £5,270 - - -
Home Safety £8 £8 - £30 £30 - - -
Early Years £297 £297 - £1,188 £1,188 - - -
Youth Service £88 £88 - £350 £350 - - -
Placements/Non Contracted Activity £218 £198 (£20) £872 £824 (£48) (£24) (£25)
Community Services £2,284 £2,258 (£27) £9,137 £9,030 (£106) (£106) -
Acute Services £6,393 £6,372 (£21) £25,574 £25,488 (£86) £191 (£277) See Appendix 2

TOTAL - Integrated Fund £28,694 £30,942 £2,248 £114,776 £122,192 £7,417 £7,483 (£66)

TOTAL - Aligned £351 £343 (£7) £1,402 £1,372 (£30) (£109) £79 See Appendix 3

TOTAL - Committed Developments - - - - - - - - 

TOTAL EXPENDITIURE £29,044 £31,285 £2,240 £116,178 £123,565 £7,387 £7,374 £13

Over/(Under) Spend - £2,240 £2,240 - £7,387 £7,387 £7,374 £13

£'000's %
£2,352 32%
£5,035 68%
£7,387 100%

2019/20 Monitoring

Description
CCG Element of Overspend/(Underspend)

Council Element of Overspend/(Underspend)
Grand Total

2.5 The main reasons for the overspend relates to the Looked After Children section is 
forecasting to overspend £6.9m, of which £4.7m relates to out of Area placements 
that have continued to increase year on year.  Appendix 1 gives a breakdown of the 
other services in the Looked After children category.  

2.6 The CCG has agreed an additional £3m non recurrent investment into children’s 
services to test a new model of care and increase staffing in Salford which should 
reduce the need to place children out of area.  This should therefore improve the 
financial position but no financial benefits have yet been included in this financial 
year’s forecast.  The new service will be operational in November 2019 and therefore 
there should be some financial benefit this year. The implementation and impact of 
this new model will be monitored and reported back to each quarter to the Service 
and Finance Group and updates provided to the Children’s Commissioning 
Committee. 

Page 115



  

3. Recommendations

3.1 The Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) is asked to:

 Note the in year and forecast position of the children’s services within the 
Integrated Fund for 2019/20.

Steve Dixon
Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Accountable Officer, Salford CCG
04th September 2019

Page 116



  

Appendix 1 – Looked After Children 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
CCC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Looked After Children Team £397 £457 £60 £1,588 £1,818 £230 £196 £34
Family Placement £215 £214 -£1 £860 £845 -£15 -£2 -£13
Independent Foster Agency £612 £598 -£14 £2,448 £2,433 -£15 £83 -£98
Outside Placements £1,036 £2,251 £1,215 £4,143 £8,857 £4,713 £4,722 -£9
Adoption £120 £217 £98 £479 £869 £390 £395 -£5
Fostering £1,787 £2,009 £222 £7,146 £8,107 £961 £863 £98
Next Steps - Care Leavers £573 £561 -£12 £2,294 £2,260 -£34 -£19 -£15
Residential £811 £964 £153 £3,246 £3,934 £689 £515 £173

Total Looked After Children £5,551 £7,272 £1,721 £22,204 £29,124 £6,920 £6,754 £166

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix shows all of the Looked after Children services that are managed directly by 
Salford City Council.

This is the biggest area financial risk for the Children’s Integrated Fund. More detailed 
information has been requested to the next Service and Finance Group and reported to the 
next Children’s Commissioning Committee

Page 117



Appendix 2 – Acute Hospital Pooled Services 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
CCC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Salford Royal NHS FT £888 £974 £86 £3,550 £3,895 £345 £431 (£86)
Central Manchester NHS FT £3,884 £3,744 (£141) £15,537 £14,974 (£562) - (£562)
Bolton Hospitals NHS FT £787 £735 (£52) £3,146 £2,939 (£207) (£214) £7
Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust £571 £625 £53 £2,285 £2,499 £214 £180 £34
University Hospital of South Manchester NHS FT £90 £98 £8 £361 £394 £33 - £33
Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh Hospitals NHS FT £14 £9 (£5) £56 £35 (£21) (£24) £3
Warrington & Halton FT (North Chesh Hosp) £144 £187 £43 £577 £748 £171 (£151) £322
Stockport NHS FT £11 £1 (£10) £45 £4 (£41) (£31) (£10)
Lancashire Teaching NHS FT £4 (£0) (£4) £17 (£0) (£17) - (£17)

Total Acute Services (Pool) £6,393 £6,372 (£21) £25,574 £25,488 (£86) £191 (£277)

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix relates to the children’s hospital activity and maternity services that is included within 
the pooled budget.  This relates to all of the hospitals that Salford people attend.  

The main area of spend at Salford Royal FT relates to children’s A&E activity (PANDA Unit) which is 
over half of the annual children’s hospital spend with Salford Royal FT.  

The majority of Salford Children’s hospital activity (outpatients, daycases and inpatients) is with 
Manchester Foundation Trust (MFT) on the central Manchester site. 

Page 118



Appendix 3 – Acute Hospital Aligned Services 2019/20

Description
YTD 

Budget
 YTD Actual

YTD 
Variance

Annual 
Budget

Forecast
Annual 

variance

Previous 
Reported 

Variance to 
CCC

Movement 
in Variance

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
Central Manchester NHS FT £277 £285 £8 £1,108 £1,139 £31 - £31
Bolton Hospitals NHS FT £53 £40 (£14) £213 £158 (£55) (£93) £38
Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust £16 £14 (£2) £63 £56 (£7) (£9) £2
University Hospital of South Manchester NHS FT £3 £3 £0 £10 £11 £1 - £1
Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh Hospitals NHS FT £1 (£0) (£1) £3 (£1) (£4) (£4) -
Warrington & Halton FT (North Chesh Hosp) £1 £3 £1 £5 £10 £5 (£2) £7
Stockport NHS FT £0 (£0) (£1) £0 (£2) (£2) (£2) -

Total Acute Services (Pool) £351 £343 (£7) £1,402 £1,372 (£30) (£109) £79 

2019/20 Monitoring

Notes on this Appendix:

This appendix relates to those hospital services that legally cannot be included in a pooled budget.  
These services predominantly relate to surgical hospital activity.  These services are included in the 
Integrated Fund and therefore within the financial risk share agreement. 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



Commissioning Committee - Reporting Schedule 2019-20

Enquiries: Debbie Blackburn deborah.blackburn@salford.gov.uk 

Item Frequency Author Presenter Sep-19 Nov-19 Jan-20 Mar-20 May-20

Apologies for Absence Standing Item Chair     

Matters Arising, Action Log, & Minutes of Last Meeting Standing Item Chair     

Finance Standing Item Steve Dixon     

Performance Standing Item Charlotte Ramsden     

Childrens  Update Charlotte Ramsden/ Anthony Hassall    

Domestic Abuse - update discussion Emma Ford 

THRIVE Emily Edwards 

0-25 Performance Dashboard Chris Pitchford  

Perinatal Mental Health Michelle Whittaker 

SLCN Stephen Woods 

Social Care Transformation Zoe Fearon 

Best Value Debbie Blackburn  

Operation Encompass Jane Case 

Learning Support Service (LSS) review Geoff Catterall 

Early Help/Neighourboods Cost Benefit Analysis Becky Bibby/Cathy Starbuck 

SEND Strategy Geoff Catterall/Cathy Starbuck 

SEND Peer Review Geoff Catterall/Cathy Starbuck 

Start Well Performance/early evaluation Jane Case/ Michelle Whittaker 

SEND Pathfinder update Geoff Catterall/Debbie Blackburn 

Maternity Harry Golby  

Community Paediatrics Harry Golby 

CAMHS updates 

For information 

Committee Meeting Schedule 

P
age 121

A
genda Item

 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 2019.
	6 SEND Peer Review. (Cathy Starbuck)
	7 SEND Strategy 2019/21 (Cathy Starbuck)
	8 Best Value Assurance Report
	9 Children's Health Services Assurance Report (Harry Golby)
	10 Children's Emotional Health and Wellbeing Report (Karen Proctor)
	11 Finance Report. (Steve Dixon)
	13 Work Programme 2019 / 2020. (Karen Proctor)

